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SAUDI ARABIAN HINING COMPANRY (MA"ADEN]
(A Saudt Arabian joint stock company) ¢

Statement of Directore’ rezponsibliitlos for the preparation and approval of the conzolidated finsncial
statements for the year ended December 31, 2016

The foliowing statement, which should be read in conjunction with the independent suditor's responsibilities
stated in the independent auditor's report, set out on pege 4, is made with & view to disfinguish the
responsibilities of management and those of the Independent auditors in relation fo the consolidated financial
statemants of Saudi Arabian Mining Company (Ma'aden) (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the "Group”}

Management Is responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements, inclusive of af the notes,
that present fairly the consolidated financial posiion of the Group as at December 31, 2016, the resulls of its
operations, cash flows and changes in equity for the year then ended, in accomdance with the accounting
standards issued by the Saudi Organization for Certified Public Accountants (*SOCPA").

in preparing the consolidated financial statements, the management Is responsibie for:

*  selecting suitable sccounting policies and applying them consistently;

« making judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

« staling whether SOCPA accounting standards have been followed, subject to any material departures
disclosed and explained In the consolidated financial staternents and

« preparing and presenting the consolidated financial statemants on a going concern basls, unless it is
inappropriate fo presume that the Group wili continue its business for the foreseeabie future.

The management Is also responsible for:

»  designing, impiementing and maintaining an effective system of internal controls throughout the Group;

»  maintaining statutory eccounting records in campliance with local legislation and accounting standards in the
respective jurisdictions in which the Group operates;

+ teking steps to safeguard the assets of tha Group and

* detecling and preventing fraud and other imegularities.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended Dacember 31, 2016 sel out on pages 5 to 69, were
approved and authorized for Issue by the Board of Directors on Jenuary 19, 2017 and signed on its behalf by:

,-’/ /./'
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Engr. Abdutiah Bin Ibrahlm Al-Saadan <" Engr. Khalid A-Mudsifer M. Darren C. Davis
Authorized by the Board President and VP Finance and
Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officar
21 Rab? i 1438H
January 18, 2017

Riyadh
Kingdom of Saudi Arabla



Ernst & Young K Co, {Pablic Avcountanis) Teb 906 11 273 4740

Al Taisaliah Office Towen Fax: 19606 11 273 4730
»:;% PO Box 2732
Building a hetter g Fatad Road
working viortd Riyadh 11461 Wi B, LN
Saudi Arabin

Regishration Number; 45

Independent auditor’s report

To the shareholders of Saudi Arabian Mining Company (Ma’aden)
{A Saudi Arabian joint stock company}

Scope of audit

We have audited the accompanying consolidated statement of financial position of Saudi Arabian Mining
Company (Ma'aden) (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries {coliectively referred to as the "Group™) as at 31
December 2016 and the related consclidated statermnents of income, cash flows and changes in equity for
the year then ended and the notes from 1 to 48 which form an integral part of the consolidated financial
statements. These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Group's management
and have been prepared by them in accordance with the requirement of the Regulations for Companies
and submitted to us together with all the information and explanations which we required. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financia! siatements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generatly accepted in the Kingdom of
Saudi Arabia. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonabie
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.
An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significent estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statements presentation. We believe that our
audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion on the consolidated financial statements.

Unqualified opinion
in our opinion, the consolidated financial statements taken as a whole:

i) present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2016 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with accounting standards generally accepted in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia.

ii) comply with the requirements of the Regulations for Companies and the Company's by-laws in so far
as these affect the preparation and presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

for Ernst & Young

”~ T
i

e

Rashid S. AlRashoud
Certified Public Accountant
Registration No. 366

Riyadh: 21 Rabi Thani 1438H
(19 January 2017)




SAUDI ARABIAN MINING COMPANY (MA'ADEN)
{A Saudi Arablan jolnt etock company)

Consolidated statement of financial position as at Decombaer 21, 2016 ERGEER
{(All amounts in Saudi Riyals unless otherwise statedj
Pecember 31, Decambesr 31,
Hotes Z01e 2615
Assetg
Current assete
Cash and cash equivalents 7 4,368,714,52% 4,308,309,524
Short-temm Invaestments B 2,711,000,000 865,052,983
Trade and other receivables 9 1,272,918,678 1,252,143,611
Inventories 10 3,116,373,317 2,941,847 487
Advances and prepayments 11 154,784,162 248,716,039
Due from joint venture pariners 12 . - 720,000,000
14,624,800,686 10,370,069 650
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 13 48,887,551,021 36,682,188,547
Capital work-in-progress 14 34,637,282,380 40,402,433,837
Expleration and evaluation assets 15 269,803,530 233,233,575
Deferred stripping expansa 16 77,344,278 44,172,991
Intangible assets 17 369,123,208 372,426,562
Joinily controlied entities 18 1,127,866,676 1,201,454,824
Long-term investment 18 50,000,000 50,000,000
Advances and prepayments 1 28,730,480 21,645 868
65,448 501,581 79,007,658 204
Total assetis 87,073,302,267 8G,377,625,854
Liabilities
Current ligbflities
Projects and other payables 20 1,408,200,362 1,810,013,001
Accrued expenses 21 2,628,438,138 4,520,825,588
Zakal payable 222 85,308,278 50,962,237
Severance fees payable 23 8,270,636 16,006,147
Current portion of obligation undar capital lease 25 13,441,040 12,131,184
Current portion of long-term bomowings 2786 2,752,508,517 2.131,315,5904
6,887,167,171 8,541,448,061
Non-current liabiities
Projects and other payables 20 2,106,338,263 1,334,387,629
Employses’ benefits 24 425,133,068 353,304,330
Obligation under capltal lease 25 13,342,081 27,033,193
Proviston for ming closure and reclamation 26 157,077,028 158,111,874
Long-term bomrowings 278 51,223,162,526 43,267,718,004
Due 1o joint veniure parinar 28 308,780,113 300,703,363
54,231,843,081 45,441,258,483
Totai llabilities 61,128,610,252 63,982,706,544
Equity
Share capital 29 11,684,782,610 14,684,782,610
Statutory reserve
Share premlum a0 8,391,351,687 §,391,351,697
Transfer of net income Ky | 787 075,542 757,911,634
Retained eamings §,824,937,601 6.464,362,429
Equity atiributable to shareholders' of the parent company 27,699,047,450 27,298,408,370
Non-controlling imerest 326 B,245 244 565 8,086,510,840
Total equity 35,844,262,095 35,354 819,310
Total iabilities and equlty 67,073,302,267 B3 377,625,654
Commitments and contingent llabllities 44




SAUD! ARABIAN MINING COMPANY (MA'ADEN)

{A Szudl Arabian joint etock company)

Consolidated statement of income for the year ended December 31, 2016
{All amounts In Saudi Riyals unless ctherwise staied)

Sales
Cost of sales
Gross profit

Operating expengss

Seliing, marketing and loglstic expenses
General and administrative expenses
Exploration and technical services expenses
Write-ofl of plant and equipment

Operating Incoms

COther (expenses) / income

Share In net lose of jointly controlled entities
Incems from short-term investments
Finance chames

Othar incoms, net

income before zakal

Zakat expenss

Net income for the year

Net Income / (foss) attributablae to:
Shareholders’ of the parent company
Non-controlling interest

Earninge per ordinary share (Saudi Riyals)

Operating income per share Inclusive of non-controlling

interest’s share

Basic ana diluted eamings per share from continuing
operations attributable to shareholders’ of the parent

comparny

5
ARDER
Year ended Year ended
December 31, Decomber 31,
Hotse 2016 2045
33 9,506,241,216 10,956,125,938
34 (7.459,868,963) (8,517,081,736)

2,046,272,753

2,438,044 ,202

35 (410,054,943} {531,872,951)
36 (333,517,083) (448 378,831)
37 {51,090,782) (143,756,853)
13,14 (57,752,626) (10,484,925}
1,193,856,409 1,304,540,642

18.1,18.2 (73,768,148) (91,630,866)
38 151,636,138 35,583,877
38 (825,853,491) (450,452,843)
40 32,143,164 56,410,062

475,894,072 854,450,872

222 (76,628,404) (46,374,297}
400,565,668 808,076,575

6.1,41 400,639,080 605,173,945
32.6 (73.412) 202,902,630
400,565,668 B0B,076,575

1.02 1.12

41 0.34 0.52




SAUDI ARABIAN RINING COMPARY (MA'ADER)
{A Saudi Arabian jolnt stock company}

Cansclidated statement of cash flows far the year ended December 31, 2016
(All amounts In Saudi Riyals unless otherwise stated)

A'ADER

Operating activities
Income before zakat

Adiugtments for non-cash flow items:

Allowance for doubtful debts

(Reversal} f Increase In allowance for inventory
obsalascence

Depreciation

Write-off of plant and equipmant

Adjustmant to plant and equipment
Write-off of capital work-in-progress
Impaiment of exploration and evaluation asset
Deferred stripping expense

Amortization of intangible assets

Share in net ioss of jointly controfled entities
Provision for severance fees

Provision for emplayees’ termination benefits
Contribution for the employees’ savings plan

Accretion of provislon for mine closure and reclamation

Inventory loss
Income from short term investments
Finance charges

Cheanges in working capital:
Trade and other receivables

Inventories
Advances and prepayments
Projects and other payables - Trade
Accrued expenses — Trade
Zakat paid
Severance fees paid
Employee s’ termination benefits paid
Employees’ savings pien withdrawal
Provision for mine closure and reclamation utllized
Finance charges paid

Net cash generated from operating activities

Investing actlvitles

Income received from short-term Investments
Decrease / {increase) in restricted cash
Short-term investments

Due from joint venture partners

Additions to property, plant and equipment
Additions to capital work-in-progress
Additions to exploration and evaluatlon assets
Additions to deferred stripping expense
Additions to Intangible assets

Projects and other payabtes ~ Projects
Accrued expenses — Projecls

Net cash utifized in investing activities

Notes

9,36

10,34
13
13
13
14
15
16
17
18.1,16.2
23
24.1
242
26.2
34
38
39

10
11
20
21
222
23
241
24.2
26.1

12
13
14
15
16
17
20
21

Yaar ended Year endsd
December 31, December 31,
2016 2015
4£7€,884,072 854,450,872
312,475 3,200,000
(131,520} 625,666
2,431,733,140 2,209,631,051
23,661,182 10,464,925
20,186,847 25,550,171
34,091,444 -

- 20,306,493

11,177,572 36,585,184
35,728,426 74,11R,583
73,788,148 91,630,866
§,278,03¢ 17,934,852
80,085,845 79,567,555
26,408,207 23,582,534
1,465,156 1,304,847

- 121,212,929
{151,636,138) (35,583,877
824,368,335 449,057 996
14,697,484 {45,997 ,665)
(306,280,847) {622,813,473)
85,837,265 (25,651,450}
§93,670,981 49,311,794
(43,782,164) {104,756,055)
(44,082,363} (54,147,978}

(16,103,550)
(18,801,273)
(15,874,040}
{2,500,001)
{1,464,625,706)

(31,476,875)
(29,513,887)
{10,707,301)
(1,881,991)
(B91,904,835)

2,169,008,123

2,214,224 825

144,656,139
534,022,035
(1,811,847,011}
720,000,000
(55,461,020}
(8,017,917,270}
(26,569,955)
(44,348,857)
{4,285,886)
176,158,014
{1,854,673,104)

27,910,042
(53,776,258)
(375,732,629)

(293,475,275)
(13,122,022,226)
(80,181,699)
(31,679,192)
(3,992,516)
59,457,256
2,066,960,240

(10,247,365,812)

(11,206,532,257)




SAUD! ARABIAN MINING COMPANY (MA'ADEN)
(A Saudi Arabian jJoint etock company)

Consolidated statement of cash flows for the yeer ended December 31, 2046

{All amounts in Saudi Riyals unless otherwise siated)

A'REBER

Continued

Financing activities

Due from SABIC

QObligation under capitat lease

Proceeds from long-term homrowings received
Repayment of long-term barrowings

Dus fo joint venturs partnar

Payments to increase share capital by non-controlling
Interest, net

Increese in share capilal of non-controlling interest
Dividend paid to non-confrolling interest

Het cash generated from financing activities

Net chenge in cash and cash equivalents

Unrestricted cash and cash equivalents af beginning of the
vear

Unrestricted cash and cash equivalents at end of the
year

Non-cash flow transactions

Transfer of capital spares to property, plant & equipment
from inventorias

Transfer to property, plant and equipment from capital work-
in-progress

Provision for mine closure capitalized as pert of properiy,
piant and eguipment

Deaprecistion capitalized as part of capital-work-in-progress

Trangier to capital work-in-progress from expioration and
evaluation assels

Amottization capitalized as part of capital-work-in-prograss

Provision for mine closure and reclamation capitalized as
pari of capital-work-in-progress

Amortization of transaction cost capifalized as part of capitak-

work-in-progress

Borrowing cost capitalized as part of capital work-in-
progress

Transfer to intangible assets from property, plant and
equipmaent

Transfer to intangible assets from capilal work-in-progress

Transfer from payments to Increase share capital to share
capital pertaining to non-controliing interest

MNotes

25
276
2786

28

326
32,6
3286

13,10
13,14
13, 26.1,
26.3
14,13

14,15
14,17

14, 26.1

14, 27.2

14,301

17,13
17,14

326

Yeaar ended Year ended
Dacemizer 31, December 31,
20186 2015
(28,807,037) :
{12,381,256) {10,848,976)
22,598,305,720 6,475,610,600
{14,058,224,385) (6,004,221,579)
6,086,750 (257,610,514}

- 50,043,112

600,000,000 1,350,000,000
{451,192,863) {330,000,000)
8,653,786,828 1.272.872,643
585,427,040 (7.719,434,789)
3,714,966 268 11,434,381,057
4,310,373,308 3,714,946,268
223,886,537 N
14,457 146,382 321,532,862
- 1,053,288

55,551,096 63,439,623

- 2.147 943

8,576,144 5,720,831

- 26,250,000

36,551,710 15,720,180
647,205,380 443,009,951

- 885,265

40,715,230 37,520,660

- 83,278,002




*[audeo aleys o) pepaaled Ueoq easy sjuswAedaid asayy
BOUC B4 {iwh 1Y 'PEPUALLIE UDDB] JoA 10U SBY a1BoWUa0 UopEns|Bay jeinsawilon aU) PUE 1A Panss! Uaaq sABy Saleys ou YBnouys ‘210z 'Fi Ydep uo panesy L) Jaquinu uoiudc ¥4203
OU} Yjra SOURPIOIDR LI SSUEIDISQNS asol)) U AInba [10) au) Jo 1ed Se paBal) aie ‘swp ;0 popsd B Jaao sspepieqns ajqeoydde auy Jo [elded sieys aseRIoUE A31ewin o) ‘sjuswded asayl,

SL0'26ZpPE'SE  SOS'PYE'SYZ'E {(Emi'suc’cl) lee'zZaZ'oLl oar'oze'skl'e 0SPLp0'GBO'.Z LOD'.EB'PZE'D ZPS'GIE'L8.  L89'LGE'LEE'S OLSEBLYEELL
00l 000009 000'000'009 {428'056°2L)  128°09%'ZL5 - - 0'zZE
(E96'Z61 L5k} {coB'zal LSk} {CO5'Z6L'LSt) 9ze
- - - - - - (806'c00°0¥)  BO0G'to00F - - 1
899°695'00p {ZLr'es} {Zyr'es) - - 080'8E9°00F 080'6E2'00V
OLE'6LE'PEE'SE  OVB'0LG'9B0'E £51°268'2CF QLO'CGE'ZZL  680'094°CES'L  0.C'80F'REZ'.LZ BZY'ZSC'POV'Y PEY'LLG'LG.  LBYISE'I6E'G 019'ZBLVEY LI
O00'00N'0gE" L 000T00Q'0SE’ L (zoo'ssz'es) zZO0'BLZ'EER'L - - - - 2zt
ZLVERD0S ZLL'EY0'0S ZLLUERO'0S - - - 9¢e
{000°000'0EE) {oo0'c00'cee) (000'GOO'0EE) - - - - - - 9'ZE
- - - - - {gpE‘Lpg'09)  SeE'LLS'0g - . be

G/S'840'808 0£9'208'20C  DE9'Z0B'TOT G¥6'EL1'G09 GHG'EL 1 G09
£29'66.°0L5'EE  961'GOS'EZH'Y £IS'HBEVES  ROS'SHO'OSL  [B0'ZSP'E0L'9 SEYYEZ'EE9'0C 6.B8'S0L°618'S  GEZ'TBC'L69  LBD'LGELEC'E 0L9ZRLYE9'LL
‘Kunbogjoy j@x0l-qng 1seqeau] Heudeo jeydeo |eyorqng sbupiee sLuodUf JoU winjwaid |epdes sajoN

Buijjoguaa azys aByg pewe)ey 5O JaySURd ) QIBYS SRS

-Uou o} S92843U]

ajgEingLqye (¢33 ﬂcaﬁhwm

B0 38R

gasegel AloymEg

jeesejui Bupjosyucs-uoN

Auedwo?s jualed oy 30 B1apioyaIEYs 0} AqEINqLRE Ainbg

9102 ‘}g sequessQ

20 Ay}
Bupnp panEIUCD [Bides aeys /
15991t BUIjeIUOS-LUoU W SSERDL|

1604 91 Buunp 1seie;Lt
Bugjoguos-uou o} pred puapig

BAGEal
AlQ)Nes Cf paJlaisuel) SWeaul jaN

l2aA 3Ly 10§ DLU0OUE 13N
GLOZ 'LE Jequisdag

Jead ay)
fuunp painquauoo elides asays /
J50193u] Buj||0NLoT-UoU Ul 9SEBIOU|

JeeA ay; Bulnp
{e}{UED SBYS SSEBICU| O) SJUBWAR Y

seah sy Buunp jseueiul
Bujjeijuoc-ucl 0} piad puaping

BAlBSEl
Agynjels 0} Palla)SUBL SLUODUL 8k

1224 8y J0j S0 18N

Gi0Z '} Aenuer

{peje)s eslMIBO SSa{UN S|EAR IPNBS Ul SINOWE fiy)

9102 ‘L€ Jequasa( papua Jead ay) Joj Aynbe uf ssbueyd Jo JusluNE}s NBIEPIOSUOY)
{Aueduwion xpoya Jujof ue|qesy ipnes v}
{(N3OV.YI) ANVAINOD DNINIW NVISYHY 10NYS



SAUD! ARABIAHN MINING COMPANY (MA'ADERN}
{A Saudi Arabian joint slock company)

'RBER

Kotes to the consclidated financial statements for the yvear ended December 31, 2016
{All amourits In Saudi Rivals unless ctherwise sisted)

1.

General information

Saudi Arabian Mining Company {*Mg’aden”) (the “Company”) was formed as a Saudi joint stock company
pursuant to the Councli of Ministers Rasoiution No. 179 dafed B Zul Qalda 1417H {corresponding to March
17, 1997) and Royal Decree No. M/17 dated 14 Zul Qaida 1417H {corresponding to March 23, 1997), with
Commerclal Registration No. 1010164331 dated 10 Zui Qaida 1421H {corresponding to February 4, 2001).
The Company has an authorized and issued share capital of Saudi Riyals (“SAR™) 11,684,782,610 divided
into 1,168,478,261 ordinary shares with a nhominat value of SAR 10 each {Note 29).

The objectives of the Company and its subsidiaries (the "Group™) are to be engaged in various projecis
relafed to all stagas of the mining industry, including development, advancement and improvement of the
mineral industry, mineral products and by-products. These activities excluds:

¢ petrojeum and natural gas and materals derived there from;
any and all hydrocarbon substances, products, by-products and derivatives and

« activittes related to ali slages of the ofl Industry and the industries associated therewith and
supplementary thereto.

The Group’s principal mining activities are at the Mahd Ad” Dahab, Bulghah, Al-Amar, Sukhaybarat, As Sug,
Ad Duwayhi, Al-Jalamid, Az Zabirah, Al-Ghazallah and Al-Ba’itha mines. Currently the Group mainly mines
gold, phosphate rock, bauxite, low-grade bauxite, kaolin and magnesite.

On Faebruary 14, 2012 the Board of Directors approved a plan, developed by the Company in collaboration with
its jolnt venture partner Alcoa Corporation (Note 2B), fo extend the product mix of their aluminium complex,
cumrently under construction at Ras Al-Khair, to includs:

¢« automotive heat treated and non-heat treated sheet,
e bullding and construction sheet and
e foil stock sheet

Group structure

The Company has the following subsidiaries and jointly controlied entifies, all incorporatad In the Kingdom of
Saudi Arabia:

Effective ownership
as at December 31,

Subsidiaries Type of company 2016 2015
Ma'aden Gold and Base Metals Company

(*MGBM") Limited Hability compeany 100% 100%
Ma'aden Infragtructure Company ("MIC") Limited lability company 100% 100%
industrial Minerals Company ('IMC™} Limited Hability company 100% 100%
Ma'aden Aluminium Company (‘MAC") Limited liability company 74.8% 74 9%
Ma’aden Rolling Company (*“MRC") Lirnited fiability company 74.8% 74.8%
Ma'aden Bauxite and Alumina Company (*"MBAC")  Limited liability compeny 74.9% 74.9%
Ma'aden Phosphate Company ("MPC™) Limited liability company 70% 70%
Ma'aden Wa'ad Al Shamal Phosphate Company

CMWSPC™) Limited liability company 60% 60%

Jointly controlled entities

Sahara and Ma'aden Petrochemicals Company
(“SAMAPCO") Limited liability cornpany §0% 50%

Ma'aden Bamick Coppar Company (*MBCC") Limited liability company 50% 50%

The financial year end of all the subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities coincide with that of the parent
company.

10




SALDI ARABIAN MINING COMPANY (MA'ADEN)
{A Saudi &rabian joint stock company)

Netee to the coneofidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2016
{All amicunts in Saud! Riyale uniess otherwise stated)

2.1 BAGEBRM

The company was incorporated on August 9, 1989 in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabla. The objactives of the
company are;

= the exploration and mining of gold and associated minerals within their existing minlng lease area by
way of driliing, mining, concentrating, smelting and refining;

= extract, refing, export and sell such mifnerals in their origina! or refined form and

« construct, operate and maintein ell mines, buildings, highways, pipelines, refineries, treatment ptants,
communication systems, powsr plants and other facilities necessary or suilable for the purposes of the
lease.

On April 1, 2018, the company announced the commencement of commercial production at Ad Duwayhi
mine,

Z.2 MIC

The company was incorporated on August 18, 2008 in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia. The objectives of the
company ar to:

«  manage the infrastructure project to develop, construct and aperate the infrastructure and

¢« provide services to Ras Al-Khair area and other mining and industrial locations in the Kingdom of Saudi
Arabia,

23 IWMC

The compeny was incorporated on March 31, 2009 in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia. The objectives of the
company are:

¢ the exploitation of industrial minerals within the existing mining lease areas by way of driiing, mining,
concentrating, smelting and refining and

=  extraci, refine, export and salf such minerals In their odginal or refined form.

The company currently operates a kaolin and low grade bauxite mine in the central zone of Az Zabirah and a
high grade magnesite mine gt Al-Ghazallah and a processing plant at Al-Madinah AFMunawarah which
partially commenced operations during 2011 and the remaining praject is still in a development stage.

2.4 WMAC

The company was incorporated on Octobar 10, 2010 in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia and is owned:

e 74.9% by Saudi Arabian Mining Company {"Ma'aden”) and

¢ 251% by Alcoa Saudi Smelting Inversiones S.L. ("ASSI*}), a foreign shareholder, & company wholly
owned by Alcoa Corporation (previously Alcoa Incorporated), which |5 accounted for as a non-controlling
interest in thasa consolidatad financlal statements (Note 32.1).

The objectives of the company are the production of primary aluminium products:

=« ingots;

« T-ghape ingots;
» sjabs and

o billets,

2.5 MRC

The company was incorporated on October 10, 2040 in tha Kingdom of Saudi Arabla and is owned.

¢«  74.9% by Saudi Arabian Mining Company (*Ma’'aden”) and

«  25.1% by Alcoa Saudi Rolling Inversiones S.L. ("ASRI™, a foreign shareholder, a company whally owned
by Alcoa Corporatlon, which is accounted for as a non-controlling interest in these consclidaied financial
stataments (Note 32.2}.
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2.5 KRC (continued)

The objectives of the company are the production of:

+  can body sheets and
¢ canends stock.

The company is currently in its commissioning phase.

2.6 MBAC
The company was incorporated on January 22, 2011 in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia and is owned:

e 74.9% by Saudi Arabian Mining Company (‘Ma’'aden”) and

s 25.1% by AWA Saudi Lirnfted ("AWA™), a foreign sharsholdar, which is owned 60% by Alcoa Corporation
and 40% by Alumine Limited, an unrelated third party, which is accounted for as a non-controlling
interest in these consolidated financial statements {Note 32.3).

The objectives of the company are {0;

« produce and refine bauxite and
« produce alumina.

The company siarted comimerclal production on October 1, 2016,

2.7 MPC
The company was incorporated on January 1, 2008 in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia and is owned:

e 70% by Saudi Arabian Mining Company ("Ma'aden”) and

« 30% by Saudi Basic Industries Corporation {"SABIC") which is accounted for as a non-controlling
irterest In these consolldated financial statements {Note 32.4).

The objectivas of the company are to:

=  exploH the Al-Jalamid phosphate deposils;

« ulilize focal natural gas and sulphur resources to manufacture Phosphate fertilizers at the processing
facilities at Ras Al-Khair and

« produce ammonia as a raw malerial feed stock for the production of fartilizer with the excess ammonia
exported and scld domestically.

2.8 MWSPC
The company was incorporated on January 27, 2014 in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia and is owned:

= 60% by Saudi Arabian Mining Company {"Ma’aden™);
+ 25% by Mosaic Phosphate B.V., a foreign shareholder, a fimited liability company registered in

Netherlands wholly owned by The Mosaic Company (“Mosaic”} which is accounted for as a non-
controfling interest in these consolidated financial statements (Note 32.5) and

© 15% by SABIC which is accounted for as a non-controlling interest in these consolidated financial
statements (Note 32.5).

The objectives of the Company are the production of:

s Di-ammonium and Mono-ammonium phosphate ferlilizer,
« ammonta,

« purified phosphoric acid,

«  phosphoric acid,

s sulphurc acld and

« suiphate of potash.

Tral production of ammonla piant has commenced during the third quarter of 2016 and the company

announcad the commencement of commercial production of the ammonia plant with effect from
January 1, 2017 (Note 46).
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2.5 SAMAPCO
The company was incorparated on Augusi 14, 2011 in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabla and Is owned:

« 50% by Saudi Arabian Mining Company (“Ma'aden”) {Mote 18.1) and
+» 50% by Sehata Petrochemical Company.

SAMAPCO is a joint venture project and is accountied for as an investment in a jointly controlled entity under
the equity method of accounting in these consolidated financial statements.

Tha objectives of the company are the production of.

e concentrated caustic soda;
« chlorine and
« athylene dichlonde.

The operations of the company includes the production and supply of;

« concentrated caustic soda ("CCS") feed stock to the alumina refinery at MBAC and {o seli any excess
production in the local wheolesale and retail markets and

s sthylena dichioride {*EDC") In the internatlonal and local wholesale and retail markets.
SAMAPCO hat started commercial production on July 1, 2014.
290 MBCC

The company was incorporaled on Movember 2, 2014 in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia and is owned:

» 50% by Saudi Arabian Mining Company {"Ma'aden”} (Note 18.2} and
«  50% by Barrick Middle East PTY Limied ("Barrick”).

MBCC is a joint venture project and is accounted for as an investment in a jointly conirolied entity under the
equity method of accounting in thess consaclidated financial statements.

The objectives of the company are the production of copper and associated minerals within their existing
mining lease area by way of drilling, mining, concentrating, smelting and refining.

MBCC has started commercial production at the Jabel Sayid mine on July 1, 20186.
3. Basis of praparation

The eccompanying consolidated financlal statements have been prepared under the historical cost
convention on the accrual basis of acsounting end in complience with the accounting standards promulgated
ty the Saudi Organlzation for Certifled Public Accountants (*SOCPA"),

These consclidated financial statements are presented in SAR which Ie both the functional and reporting
currency of the Group.

Effective from January 1, 2017, the Group s required to perform their financial reporting in accordance with
the Intemational Financial Reporting Standards ('IFRS") as issued by the intemational Accounting Siandards
Board (1ASB"} and adopted and endorsed by SOCPA which might require the Group to adopt certain
accounting policies that are different from those currenily being adopted.
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4.

Summary of significent accounting policies

The significant accounting policies applied in the preparalion of these consolidated financlal statements are
set out below. These policies have been consistently applied to all years presented,

4.1 Baslg of consolidation

Subsidiaries

Subsidianies are entities over which the Group has the power to govem the financiel and operating policies to
obtain an economic benefit, generally accompanying a shareholding of more than one half of the voting
righis. The existence and effect of potential voling rights that are currently exercisable or convertibie are
conslderad when assessing whether the Group controls another entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated from
the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from the date that control
CEases.

Inter-company investments, transactions, balances and unrealized gains or losses on transactions between
Group companies are ellminated. The accounting policies of all the subsidiaries ara in consistency with those
adopted by the Group.

Jointly controlled entities

A joint venture exists where the Group has a contractual arangement with one or more parties to undertake
activities typically, howsvar not nacassarily, through entities that are subject to joint control.

The Group recognises its interests in jointly controlled eniities using the equity method of accounting. The
Group's share of the results of joint ventures is based on the financial statements prepared up to a date of
the consolidated siatament of financial position date, adjusted to confonm with the accounting polices of the
Group, if any. Intragroup galns on trangactions are eliminated to the extent of the Group's interest in the
investee. Intragroup losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of impairment in the
asset transfemed.

4.2 Forelgn currency translation

Forelgn currency ransactions are translated into SAR at the rates of exchange prevalling at the time of the
transactions. Monetary assets and liabifities denominated in foreign currencies at the congolidated statement of
financial position date are translated at the exchange rates prevaiting at that date. Gains and losses from
setement and transiation of foreign currency transactions are included in the consclideled statement of
income.

4.3 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equlvalents includes cash on hand, cash in banks and time deposits with an original maturity of
three months or less at the data of acquisition, which are converlible to known amounts of cash and are subject
to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

Restricted cash and cash equivalents are excluded from cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of the
consolidated statement of cash flows. Restricted cash and cash equivalents are related to the foilowing:

s cash accumulated in the debt service reserve account for the next scheduled repayment of long-tem
borrowings, slx months prior to the due date, as per the financing agreements and
= employees’ savings plan obiigaticn

4.4 Short-term investments

Shor-term investments include placements with banks and other short-term highly liquid investments with
original maturities of more than three months but not more than one year from the date of acquisition,
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4.5 Trade receivables

Trade recelvables are camied at the oniginal sales invoice amount [8ss an allowance for doubtfut debts {if
any}. An aflowance for doubtful debts Is established when there Is objective evidenca that the Group will not
be abie 1o collect ali the amounts due according to the original terms of the receivables. Such allowances are
charged to the consolidated statement of income and reported under “General and administrative expenses".
When a trade receivable is uncollectibie, it is writlen-off against the allowance for doubtfu! debis. Any
subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written-off are credited against “General and adminisirative
expenses” in the consolidated statement of income.

4.6 inventories
Finished goods

Finished goods are measured at the iower of unit cosi of production or net realizable value. The unit cosl of
production ks determined as the total cost of production divided by the saleable unit outpet.

Production costs include:

« labor costs, materials and contractor expenses which are directly attributable to the extraction and
processing of ore;

¢ the depreciation of mining properties and leases of property, plant and equipment used in the extraction
and processing of ore and the amortization of any defemed stripping assets;

¢  production overheads and
¢ the revenue generated from the sale of by-products is credited against production cosls.

By-products are valued at naet realizable value, with reference to the spot price of the commodities rufing at
the reporting date.

Work-in-process

The cost of work-n-process s getermined using unit cost of production for the period based on the
percentage of completion at the applicable stage and Includes:

« labor ¢osts, materlais and contractor expenses which are directly attributable to the extraction end
processing of ore;

« the depreciation of mining properties and leases of property, plant and equipment used in the extraction
and processing of ore and the amortization of any deferred stripping assels and

« production ovarhaeads;

Ore stockpiles

Ore stockpiles represent ore that has been extracted and is available for further processing. The cost of ore
stockpiles is measured at the lower of unit cost of production or net reallzable value. i there Is significant
uncertainty as to when the stockpiled ore will be procaessed, the cost Is expensed as incumed. Where the
future processing of this ore can be predicled with confidence because it exceeds the mine's cui-off grade
and is economically viable, it is valued at the lower of unit cost of production or net realizable valus.
Recoverable quantities and grades of siockpiles and work-in-process are assessed primarily through
Survoys and assays.

Spara parts, consumables and raw materials

Spare parts, consumable and raw matenials are valued at the weighted average cost basis less an allowance
for obsolete and slow moving items or nat realizable value.

Net realizable value is the eslimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the costs of
completion and selling expenses.
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4.7 Financial assete and liahilities

Financial assets and liabiiitles camied on the consolidated staternent of financial position principally include
cash and cash eguivalents, shorl-term investments, trade and other recelvables, projects and other
payables, accrued expenses and borrowings.

A financial asset and liability is offset and net amount reported in the consclidated financial statements, when
the Group has a legally enforcaable right to set-off the recognized emounts and intends either to settle on a
net basis, or to realize the asset and iiability simultaneously.

4.8 Property, ptant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are camied at the historical cost less accumulated depreciation. Land is not
depreciated. Depreclation is charged to the consolidated statement of income, using the straight line method
of oh a units of production hasie for cerain mining assels and processing plants where applicable, to
allocate the costs of the related assets less their residual values over the following estimated economic

useful lives:

Number of years
«  Buildings 940
«  Heawvy equipment §5—40
s Magbile and workshop equipment 5—10
« Laboratory and safely equipment 5
¢«  Civil works 4~ 50
¢ Fixed plant and heap leaching facilities 420
e  Other equipment 4 - 20
s Office equipment 4-10
«  Fumiture and fitings 4~10
¢«  Computer equipment 4-5
e  Motor vehlcles 4
«  Mining assets Units of production method / over the life of the mine

Maintenance and normal repairs which do not materially extend the estimated economic useful life of an
asset or increase its production capacity are charged to the consolidated statement of income as and when
incurred. Major renewals and improvements, if any, are capitaiized and the assets so replaced are retired.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with the carmying amount and are
Inctuded In the consolidated statement of income.

Borrowing costs related to qualifying assets are capitalized as part of the cost of the qualified assets untli the
commencement of commercial production.

4.8 Caphtal work-In-progress

Assets in the course of construction are caphtailzed in the capital work-in-progress account. On completion,
the cost of the related asset is transfarred to the appropriats category of property, plant and equipment. The
cost of property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and any costs directly attributable to
bringing i Into working condition for its intended use. Costs assoclated with commissioning the plant are
capitalized net of the proceeds from the sale of any production during the commissioning period. Capital
work-in-progress Is not depreclatad.
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4.10 Exploration and evaluation assets

Exploration expenditures are the costs incurred in the initiel search for mineral deposits with economic
potential or in the process of obtaining more Information about existing mineral deposits. Exploralion
expenditures typically include costs associated with:

v acquisition of exploration ghts to explore;

« topographical, geological, geochemica! and geophysical studies;
=  exploration drifling;

e trenching;

« sampling and

e activities In relation to evaluating the technical feasibility and commercial viability of extracting a mineral
rasource.

Evaluation expendilures are the costs incurred to establish the technical and commarctal viabliity of
developing mineral deposits Identified through exploration activiies or by acquisition. Evaluation
expenditures include the cost of:

«  @stablishing the volume and grade of dapesits through drilling of core samples, trenching and sampling
activities in an ore body that is classifled as either @ mineral resource or a proven and probable reserve;

« determining the optimal methods of extraction and metaiturgical and treatment processes;

« studiss relatad to surveying, transpontatlon and infrastructure requirements in relation ta both production
and shipping;

s  permitting activities and

e aconomic evaluations to determine whether development of the mineralized material is commercially
justified, including scoping, prefeasibility and final feasibilities studies.

Al exploration and evaluation costs are expensed until it is concluded that a future aconemic benefit is more
likely io be realized than not, i.e. ‘probable’. The information used to make that determination depends on the
level of exploration as well as the degree of confidence In the ore body. Exploration and evaluation
expenditures are capitallzed f management determines that probable future economic benefils will be
generated as a result of the expenditures.

Exploration and evaluation expenditure reiating to extensions of mineral deposits which are aiready being
mined or developed, including expenditure on the definition of mineralization of such mineral deposits, is
capitalized as mins development cost following the completion of an economic evaluation equivalent to a
feasibility study.

Ali exploration and evaluation costs incurred after it is concluded that economic benefit Is more likely {o be
realized than nct, i.e. ‘probable’ are capitalized as “Exploration and evaluation assets” only untll the technical
feasibility and commercial viability of extracting of mineral resource are gemonstrable. Once the technical
and commercial viability is demonstrable i.e. economic bensfit wili or will not be realized, the asset is tested
for Impaimaent and any impairment loss is recognized. Based on the final technical scope, receipt of mining
license and commercial feasibility, if the economic benefit wili be reallzed and management intends 1o
develop and execute the mine, only then is the exploration and evaluation aseet reclassified to “Capltal work-
in progress”.

Cash fiows attributable to capitalized sxploration and evaluation expenditures are classified as investing
activities in the consolidated statement of cash fiow. Once the commercial production stage Is reached, the
capitalized capital work-in-progress is reclassified to “Property, plant and equipment”
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For the purposes of exploration and evalustion assets only, one or more of the following facis and
circumstancas are considered for identifying that exploration and evaluation asset may be impaired. These
include the following:

»  the period for which the Group has the right to explore in the specific area has expired during the pericd
or will expire in the near future, and is not expected to be renewed.

« substaniive expenditure on further exploration and evaluation of minerai rasources in the specific area is
neither budgeted nor planned.

=  exploration for and evaiuation of mineral resources in the specific area have not led to the discovery of
commearclally viable quantities of mineral resources and the Group has decided to discontinue such
activities in the specific area.

« sufficlent data exdst to indicate that, although a development in the specific area is likely to procesd, the
cartying amount of the exploration and evaluation assst Is unlikeily to be recovered in full from successful
development or by sale.

Cnce it has been identified that exploration and evaluation asset may be impaired, the entity performs an

impairment and the reversal of impaimment on exploration and evaluation assets, as specified in note 4.13.

4.1% Stripping ratic and deferred stripping expense

‘The Group defers waste mining costs and has estifmated the average of the waste-to-ore ratlo for the
quarntities contained within the final pit design of the mine. This average Is used to calculate the annual
waste mining costs to be expensed as follows:

Average ratio of waste toore mined x Quantity of ore mined x  Average unil cost of total tonnes mined

in periods when the actual costs of waste are higher than the costs expensed according to this formula, the
difference is deferred to be expensed in a future period when the actual costs are lass than the amount {o be
expensed.

Stripping cost incumred during the devalopmant stage of en opan pit mine in order to eccess tha underlying
ore deposit are capitalized prior to the commencement of commercial production. Such costs are then
amortized over the remaining life of the component of the ore body (for which eccess has improved), using
the units of production method over provan and probsable reserves.

Production stripping costs in an open pit mine is capitalized as deferred stripping expense fo the extent thet
it is probable that the future economic benefits wili flow to the company through improved access to the
particutar component of the ore bedy. The Deferred stripping expense asset is depreciated / amortized using
the units of production mathod, based on the proven and probable reserves conlained in the componant,
which is expecled {0 be shorter than the life-of-the mine. The depreciation / amortization of the deferred
stripping expense is considered to be a period production cost end is recorded in inventory (and
subsequently as a cost of sale when the inventory is sold).

412 Intangible assets

Intanglble assets are measured 21 cost iess eccumulated amoruzauon and accumuieted impairment losses,
where applicable. Intangible assets are amortized over the shorter of their estimated economic / statutary usefut
lives using the straight-line method. Amortization methods, residual values and estimated economic useful lives
are reviewed al least annually.

Fre-operating expenses and defemed charges deemed of having future economic benefils ere capitalized as
intangible assets and are amortized when compleied over seven years.
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4.13 Asset impairment

The Group assesses its assets at each reporting date for impairment whaenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carmying amount may not be recoverabie. An impairment loss js recognized
for the amount by which the asset's carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable
amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell or value-in-use based on the estimated future
undiscounted cash flows.

Assets that suffered impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.
When it becomes evideni that the clrcumstances which resulted in the impaimment no fonger exist, the
impaiment amount is reversed (with the exception of goodwill} and recorded as other income in the
consolidated staternant of income in the year in which such roverse] Is determined.

414 Projects, other payabies and accrued &xpsnses

Liabilties in respest of cortract costs for capital projects, including trade payables, are recognized at amounts
to be paid for goods and services received. The amount recognized is the present value of the futurs
obligations; untess they are due in less than one year.

Liabilities in respect of other payables are recognized at amounts to be paid for goods and services received.
4.1% Zakat, income tax and withholding fax

The Company is subject to zakal in accordance with the regulations of the General Authority for Zakat and
Tax (GAZT). A provision for zakat for the Company and zakat related o the Company's wholly owned
subsidiaries is charged fo the consolidaled statement of Income. Differences, If any, at the finallzation of
final assessments are accounted for when such amounts are determined.

Foreign sharehoiders In subsldlaries are subject to Income tax which is included in non-controlling interest in
the consolidated stalement of income.

The Group withholds taxes on cerlain transactions with non-resident parties in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia
as required under Saudi Arabian Income Tax Law.

4,16 Severance fegs

Effective from year 2005 onwards, as per Article No. 71 of the Saudl Mining Investment Code issued based
on the Royal Decree No. 47/M dated 20 She'aban 14254 (cormesponding to October 4, 2004), the Group is
required to pay to the Govemment of Saudl Arabia severance fee representing 25% of the annual net
income per mining ficense or the equivalent of the hypothetical income tax, whichever Is the lower. Tha
Zakat due ehall be deducted from gross severance fes and the net severance fee amount is shown as par
of cost of sales in the consolidated statement of income (Note 34).

However, the minimum severance fee payable for a small mine license based on sales is:

Minerais Basls Rate

L ow grade beuxite Actual mefric fonnes sold SAR 1.50 per metnc {onne
Kaoiin Actual metric tonnes sold SAR 2.25 per metric tonne
Magnesia Actual metric tonnes sold SAR 4.50 per metric tonne

The minimum severance fee payable is SAR 890,000 if the minimum mining capaciy is not achieved.
Provision for severance fees is charged to the cost of sales In the stalement of income and not included in
the valuation of inventory.

417 Provisions
Provisions are recognized when the Group has:
+ a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event;

« ltis probable that an cutfiow of economic resources will be requirad to settle the obligation in the future
and

« the amount can be reliably estimated.
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4.18 Employees’ termination benefits

Employee temmination benefits are payable as a lump sum o all employees employed under the terms and
conditions of Saudi Labor and Workman Law aon tarmination of their employment contracts. The fiability is
calcutated as the current value of the vested benafits to which the employee is entitled, shouid the employee
leave at the consolidated statement of financial posiion date. Termination payments are based on
employees’ final salaries and aliowances and their cumulative years of service, as defined by the conditions
siated in the laws of the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia.

4.19 Employees’ gavinge plan program

in accordance with Artlcie 145 of the Labor Regulations, and in furtherance o Arucie 76 of the Company's
Intemal Work Regulation approved by resolution No. 424 dated 8" of Rabl | 1420H {comesponding fo July
19, 1999) issued by His Highness the Minister of Labor and Social development, a Savings Plan Program
was Introduced to encourage the Saudi employees of the Group to save and invest their savings in areas
more beneficlal to them, to secure their future and as an incentive for them to continue working with the
Group.

Participation in the Savings Plan Program is restricted o Saudi Nationals only and optional with employees
required 1o contribute a monthly minimum installment of 1% to a maximum of 15% of their basic salary
subject to a minimum of SAR 300 per month.

The Group will contribute an amouni equating 10% per year of the monthly savings of each member per
annum for the first year and incrsase ki by 10% per year and the years thereafier until it reaches 100% in the
10% year, which will in turn be credited 1o the savings accounts of the membar. The Group's portion is
charged to the consolidated statement of income on a monthly basis. The Group's portion will only be paid
upon termination or resignation of the employee.

420 Home owners plan

The interest cost associated with the funding of the acquisiion or construction of the employees’ house is
bome by the Group In accordance with the approvad Home owners plan, and expenses as pan of finance
cost.

4.21 Mine closure and reclamation

The mining, extraction and processing activities of me Group nomally glve nse to obligations for mine
closure or reclamation. Mine closure and reclamation works can Include facility decommissioning and
dismantiing; removal or treatment of waste materials; site and land rehabllitation. The extent of work required
and the associated costs are dependent on the requirements of current laws and regulations.

The fuli estimated costs are capitelized as part of mining assets under property, plant and equipment and
then amoriized as an expense over the expected life-of-mine on & straight-ine hasis.

Adjustments to the estimated amount and timing of future closure and reclamation cash fiows are a normal
occurrence in light of tha significant judgments and estimates involved. Factors influencing those changes
include:

« revisions to estimaled ore reserves, mineral resources and lives of mines;
« developments in fechnology;
=  regulatory requirements and environmental management strategies and

e changes in the estimated exient and costs of anticipated aclivilies, including the effects of inflation and
changes in economlc sustainability.

The costs for reclamation of ongoing site damage arise from rectifying work and are reporied through the
consolidated statement of income, as part of Cost of sales. Mine closure and raciamation costs should be
provided at tha present vaiue of the expanditures expected to settle the obligation, using estimate cash flows
based on current prices, without any adjustment for inflation.

The appropriate discount rate to be used should be based on the company’s weighted average cost of
capital or if i's not available than the borrowing rate cumrentiy avaitable to the entity for a long term loan for a
similar pariod for which the provision is created. The provislon for Mine closure and reclamation cosls will
accordingly increase over ime, as the discount unwinds. The unwinding of the discount is recorded ae a
charge through financlal charges within the consalidated statement of income.
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Costs arising from unforeseen clrcumstances, such as the contamination caused by unplanned discharges,
are recognlzed as an expense and liabillty when the event gives rise to an obligation which Is probable and
capable of reliable esfimation. The timing of the actual closure and reclamation expenditure is dependsent
upon 3 number of factors such as:

¢ the life-of-mine;

¢« developments in tachnology;

« fhe operating license conditions;

¢ the environment in which the mine operates and
= changes in economic sustainability.

422 Leasing

Leasss are classified as capilal leases whenever the terms of the lease iransfer substantially all of the risks
and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operafing lcases.

Assels held under capital feases are recognized as assets of the Group at the lower of the present vaiue of
the tuture minimum lease payments or the fair market value of the assets at the Inception of the lease.
Depreclation is provided over the estimated economic useful lives of the assets.

Finance costs, which represent the difference betwesn the total lease commitments and the lower of the
prasent value of the future minimum lease payments or the fair market value of the assets at the inception of
tha leass, are charged to the consolidatod statement of income over the term of the refevant lease In order to
produce a constant periodic rate of retum on the remaining balence of the obligation for each accounting
year.

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to the consolidated statement of income on a slraight-
line besis over the term of the operating leass.

4.23 Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognized at the proceeds received, net of transaction costs incumred, if any.
Subseguent to inllial recognition, ong-term borrowings are messured at amorlized cost using the effective
interest rafe method. Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets are capitalized as part of the cost of those assets. Other borrowing costs are
charged to the consolidated statement of income.

Transaction costs incurned upfront which are amortized over the ferm of the loan, is capitalized as part of the
cosl of the qualifying asset until the commencement of commercial production and then charged to the
consolidated statement of income as an expense,

4.24 Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognized when all the foliowing conditions are met:

» the significant risks and rewards of ownership of goods / services have been transferred to the buyer;

« peilher continuing manageral involvement to the degree usually associated with ownership, nor
effective contro! over the goods sold, has been retained;

« the amouni of revenue can be measured refiably,;

s itis probable that the economic béanefits associated with the szie will fiow 1o the Group and

+  the costs Incurred or to be incurred in respect of the sale can be measured reliably.

Revenues are shown net of all discounts and rebatas and after efiminating sales within the Group.

Sales revenue is commonly subject to an agjustment based on an inspection of the product by the customer
or post essay finalization. In such cases, sales revenue is initially recognized on a provisional basis using the
Company's best estimate of the product at the cument market price and adjusied subsequently within
revenue at the quantity and market price when finalized.

Revenue from the sale of by-products is credited against production costs.

Investment income consists of eamings on benk deposits and is recognized on an eccruat basis.
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Notee to the consolidated financiat statements for the year ended December 31, 2016
(Al amounts in Saugi Riyals unless otherwise stated)

4.25 Selling, marketing and logistic expenses

Selling, marketing and logistic expenses comprise of all costs for selling and marketing the Group's products
and include expenses for advertising, marketing fees and other sales related overheads. Basis of allocations
between selling, marketing and logistic expenses and cost of sales, when required, are mada on a consistent
basis.

4.26 General and administrative expenses

Genera! and administrative expenses include direct and indirect costs not specifically part of cost of sales as
required under generally accepted accounting standards. Allocations between general and administrative
axpenses and cost of sales, when required, are made on a consistent basis.

Crtical accounting estimates, assumptions and judgments

The preparation of consolidated financial statemsnis in conformity with accounting standards generzlly
accepled in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, requires the Group's management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes.,

Estimates and judgments are conlinually evaiuated and are based on historicaf experence and other factors,
Inciuding expsctations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. The
Group makes esfimates and assumplions conceming the future. The accounting estimates will, by definition,
seldom equal the related actual results.

5.1 Critical judgements in applying accounting standards

The following critical judgements have the most significant affect on the amounts recognized in the
consolidated financial statements;

s economic useful lives of property, plant and equipment;
+* Impairment and reversal of Impairment of assets and
» zakat and income taxes

Economic useful lives of property, plant end equipment

The Group’s property, plant and equipment, are deprecialed on a straight-line basis over the ecanomic
usaful lives or on a units of productlon basls for certain mining assets and processing plants over the ife-of-
mine. When determining the life-of-mine, assumptions that were valid at the time of estimation, may change
when new information becomas availabls.

The faclors that could affect the estimation of the life-of-mine include the following:

« ¢hanges In proven and probable ore reserves;

« the grade of ore reserves varying signfficantly from time to time;

« differences between actual commodity prices and commodity price assumptions used in the estimation
and classification of ore reserves;

¢ unforeseen operationat issues at mine sites and

« changes in capital, operating, mining, procassing and reclamation costs, discount rates could possibly
adversely affect the economic viebility of ore reserves.

Any of these changes could affect prospective deprediation of mining assets and their carrying valus. The
economic useful lives of non-mining property, plant and equipment is reviewed by management pericdically.
The review is based on the cumment condition of the assets and the estimated perlod durlng which they wili
continue to bring economic benefit to the Group.

Impairment and revarsal of impafrment of assels
The Group reviews the carrying amounts of ils tangible assets to determine whether there Is any indication

that those assets are impaired or whether there is any indicator that an Impalmment loss recognized in
previous years may ne longer exist or may have decreased.
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Zakat and income tax

During the yaar ended December 31, 2016 an amount of SAR 44,082,363 was paid to GAZT peraining o
the year ended December 31, 2015 (during the ysar ended December 31, 2015 an amount of
SAR 54,147 978 was peid to GAZT pertaining to the year ended December 31, 2014}.

No zakat asssssments were finalized by the GAZT and where the final zakat outcome of an assessment is
different from the amounts that were Iniflally recorded, such differences wilt Impact and be recorded in the
zakat provisions in the peniod in which such determinations are made.

5.2 Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key sources of estimation uncerainty that have a significant risk of causing = material
adjustment to the camrying amounis of the essets and liabilities within the next financial year:

«  ore reserve and mineral resource estimaies;
= mine closure and environmental obiigations;
« allowances and

¢ contingencies

Ore reserve and mineral resource estimates

There is a degree of uncertainty involved in the esumation ana ciassificanon of ore reserves and mineral
resources and comesponding grades being mined or dedicated to future production. Until ore reserves or
mineral resources are actually mined and processed, the quentity of ore reserve and mineral resource
grades must be consldered as estimates only. What is more, the gquantity of ore reserves and minerai
resources may vary depending on, amongst other things, meta! prices and currency exchange rates.

The ore reserve estimates of the Group have been determined based on management's long-term
commiodity price, forecasts cut-off grades and costs that may prove to be Inaccurate. Any materiai changs in
the quantity of reserves, grades or silripping ratic may affect the econotnic viability of the properlies. In
addilion, thera can be no assurance that gold recoveries or other meta! recoveries in small scale laboratory
tasts wilf give the same resuft In larger scale tests under on-site condltions or during production.

Fluctuation in commodity ptices, tha results of drlling, metallumical testing and production and the
evaluation of mine plans subsequent to the date of any eslimate may require estimates to be revised. The
volume and grade of ore reserves mined and processed and recovery rates may not be the same as
currently anticipated. Any material reductions in estimates of ore reserves and mineral resources, or of the
Group's ability to exiract these ore reserves, could have a material adverse eftect of the Group’s business,
prospects, financial condition and operating results.

#ine closure and environmental cbligations

The Group’s mining and exploration eclivilies are subject to various environmental laws end reguiations. The
Group estimates environmental obligations based on management's understanding of the curreni legal
requirements in the varous junsdictions in which it operates, terms of the license agreements and
engineering estimates. Provislon |s mads, for decommissloning and land restoration costs as soon as the
obligation arses. Actusl costs incurred in future years could differ materially from the amounts provided.
Additionally, future changes to envirenmental laws and regulations and life-of-mime estimates could affect
the carrying amount of this provision.

Allowances

Tha Group also creates an allowance for obsolete and slow-moving spare parts. At December 31, 2016, the
allowance for obsolete siow-moving items amounted to SAR 15,853,329 {December 31, 2015: SAR
15,884,849) (Note 10). These estimates take into consideration fluctuations of price or cost directly relating
to events occuring subsequent to the consolidated statemant of financial position date to the exlent that
such events confirm conditions existing as at the end of the year.
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Contingencies

By their nature, contingencies will only be resolved when one or more future events occur of fail to oceur.
The assessmeni of such contingencies inherently involves the exercise of significant judgement and
estimates of the outcome of fuiure events,

6. Segmental Information

6.1 Business segment

A business sagment is a group of assets, operations or entities:

« engaged in revenue producing activities;

« results of its operalions are econtinuously analyzed by management In order to make decisions related to
resource allocation and performance assessment and

« financial information is separately available.

The Group’s operetions consist of the following business segments:

¢ Phosphate Strategic Business Unit segment, consist of operations related to:

MPC - the mining and beneficiation of phosphate concentrated rock at Al-Jalamid. The utllization of
natural gas and sulphur to produce phosphate fertilizers as well as ammonia products at
Rag Al-Khair.

IMC — the mining of industrial minerals at a kaolin and low grade bauxite mine in the central zone of
Az Zabirah and a high grade magnesite mine at Al-Ghazaillah and a processing plant at
AlMadinah Al-Munawarah.

#MWSPC — the development of a mine lo exploit the Al-Khabra phosphate deposit. The project is in
the development stage, howsver, ammonia plant has commenced trial production during the third
quarler of 2016 and the company announced commencement of commerdial production of the
ammonia plant with effect from January 1, 2017.

Phosphate and Indusftrial Minerals division under Corporate — related cost and exploration
expenses in Ma'aden Corporate has been allocated to thls segment.

MIC — is responsible for the development, construction and delivery of services to Ma’aden entities
In the Ras Al-Khalr area and other mining and industria! kocations in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia,
Therefors, a 33% proporticnate share of MIC's revenues, costs, assets and liabilties have been
aflocated to this segment,

¢  Aluminium Strategic Business Unit segment, consists of the operations related to:

MAC - operates the smelter at Ras Al-Khair and it currently processes the alumina feedstock that it
purchases from MBAC and Alcoa and produces aluminium producis. MAC started commercial
production on September 1, 2014.

MRC — the constructing of a roling mill project is in the commissioning phase.

MBAC — the mining of bauxis ai the Al-Ba'itha mine and the transporiation thereof o its refinery at
Ras Al-Khair. MBAC startad commercial production en Oclober 1, 2016.

SAMAPCO — a joinlly controlled enfity that produces concentrated caustic soda, chlorine and
ethylens dichioride and supply a!l the required feedstock for use in the alumina refinery at MBAC,
any excess production is sold in the international and domestic market. SAMAPCO started
commercial production on July 1, 2014,

Automotive sheet project Include autornotive heat treated and non-treated sheet, building and
construction sheet and foil stock sheel. The project is in the development stage {(Note 1).

Aluminium division under Corporate - related cost and external sales revenue have been
allocated to this segment.

MIC — is responsible for the development, construdtion and delivery of services to Ma'aden entities
in the Ras Al-Khair area and other mining and industrial locations in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia.
Therefore, a 67% proportionate share of MIC's revenues, costs, assets and liabilties have been
alfocated to this segment.
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MIA'RBER

6.1 Business segment {confinued)

¢« Gold and Base Metals Stretsgic Business Unit segment, consists of operations related to:

- MGBM - that operates five gold mines, i.e. Mahd Ad Dahab, AFAmar, Bulghah, As Sug and Ad
Buwayhi (which came into commercial production on April 1, 2016) and a processing plant at
Sukhaybarat which are located in differant geographical areas in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia.

MBCC - a jointly conlrolied entity thet produces copper and associated minerals located in the
southeast of Al-Madinah Al-Munawarah. MBCC started commercial production on July 1, 2018,

- Gold and base mstals division under Corporate — related cost and exploration expenses in
Ma'aden Corporate has been ailocated to this segment.

o Corporate

- is responsible for effective management and governance including funding of subsidiaries and
jointly controlied entities that camy out various projects related to all stages of the mining Industry,
including development, advancementi and improvement of the minaral industry, mineral products

and by products.
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SAUDI ARABIAN KMINING COMPANY (RA'ADEN)
{A Szudi Arabian joint stack company}

Notes to the coneolidated financlal statements for the year ended December 31, 2016
{All amounts in Saudi Rivals uniass otherwise stated)

7.

Cash and cash equivelents

December 31, Decamber 31,
2016 2015

Term deposits with original maturities equal o or less than three

months at the date of acquisition
- unrestricted 3,853,142,872 3,387,121,398
- restricted e - 544,554,663
Sub-1otai 3,8653,142,872 3,041,676,061
Cash and bank balances

~ unrestricied 357,230,436 317,824,870
- restricted 58,341,224 48,808,593
Sub-iotal 416,571,657 366,633,463

Totaf

Restricted cash and cash eguivalents are related to the following:

Cash accumulaled in the dabt service reserve account for the nexi
scheduled repayment of iong-term borrowings, six months prior to
the due date, as per the financing agreement (Note 27.7)

Employees’ savings plan obligation {(Note 4.19 and 24.2)

Sub-total

Balance portion accumuiated for the scheduled repayment of long-
term borrowings, six months prior to due date, Invested and
included In short-tarm deposits with original maturities equst to or
tess than thres months at the date of acquisiion (Note 27.7)

Total restricted cash

4,365,714,520 4,308,309,524
. 1,539

59,341,221 48,807,054
50,341,221 48,808,503

- 544 554 663

59,341,221 593,363,256

Total unrestricted cash

£,310,373,308

3,714,946,26B

Short-term investments

December 31,
2016

December 31,
2015

Term deposits with original maturities of more than three months
and less than a year at the dats of scquisition

2,711,000,600

839,052 9BG

Short-term investments yield financlal incoms &t prevalling market rates.

27




SAUDI ARABIAN MINING COMPANY (RA'ADEN)
(A Saud! Arablan jolnt stock company}

Notes to tha consolidated financial statemente for the year ended December 31, 2016

{All amoiinds in Saudl Rlvais unless otherwise siatec)

g

Trade and other recelvables

Motes

Trade receivables
Other third parly receivabies
Due from Alcoa inespal, 5.A. 422
Due from SABIC 422
Sub-total

Due from Saudi Ports Authorlty
Aliowance for doubtful debts*
Sub-totai

Due from Saudi Mining Polytechnic ("SMP”) 422
Insurance claims™

Withholding tax receivable

Investment income receivable

Due from SABIC 422
Cther

Total

*Movement in the atlowance for doubtfuf debis is as follows:

January 1
tncrease in allowance for doubtful debts 36

Dacember 31

“*Insurance claims reiate to:

« one of the aluminium pot lines on which the production was
hated in October 2013. The temporary shutdown was
undertaken after a period of pot Instability. The pot fine has
baen restored during sacond quarter of 2014

= an ammonia reformer and conveyor belt claim

Total
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December 31,

December 31,

2016 2015
865,073,675 857,438,173
86,887,620 87,897,065
195,110,088 407,155 456

1,169,171,383

1,152,490,694

7,439,820 6,896,500
(3,512,475} {3,200.000)
3,827,345 2,696,500
3,851,088 2,166,504

- 13,304,480

446,724 31,850,982
15,814,150 B,836,151
28,807,037 -
50,700,840 40,698,300

1,272,018,678

1,262 143,611

2018 20156
3,200,000 -
312,475 3,200,000
3,512.475 3,200,000
Pecember 31, Dacember 3%,
2016 2015

- 0,892,253

B - 3,412,227

- 13,304,460




SAUDi ARABIAN MINING COMPANY {MA'ADEN)
{A Saudi Arablan joint stock company)

Notes to the consolidated financiat statements for the year ended Decembar 31, 2016

{All amounis in Saudi Rivals unless otherwise stated)

10. Inventories

Finished goods - ready for sale
Waork-in-process

Stockpile of mined ore
By-products

Sub-total

Spare parts and consumables materials

Decanmiser 31, Decamber 31,
20496 2015
202,875,243 243,049,951
496,300,808 583,756,631
189,400,046 173,176,688
3,124,158 710,227
982,716,256 1,000,683, 167

1,316,552,321

Allowance fot obsolete slow-moving spare parts and consumable

maierials

Raw materials

Sub-total

Total

{14,653,320)

1,312,816,035

(15,984,840}

1,300,606,802 1,296,831,186
832,556,068 644,322,504
2,133,655,061 1,941,153,680

34168,373,317

2,941,847 487

The spare paris inventory primarly relates tu plant and machinery.

*Movement in the allowance for obsolete slow-moving spare parts and consumables malerials is as follows:

January 1

incraase in allowance for obsolescence {Note 34)

Decembear 31

11. Advances and prepayments

Current portion
Advances fo contractors
Advances to employees
Prepaid rent

Prepaid insurance
Cther prepayments

Sub-total

Non-current poriian
Other prapaymernis

Total

2016 2015
15,984,849 15,359,183
{131,520 625,666
15,853 328 15,984 849
December 31, December 31,
2016 2015
119,463,370 172,113,183
14,012,651 12,889,187
8,335,197 14,396,416
8,060,774 44 442 651
3,822,170 4 874 582
154,794,162 248,716,039
29,730,480 21,645,668
184 524, 542 270,361,807
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SAUDI ARABIAK MINING COMPANY (MA'ADEN)
(A Saudi Arabian jolnt etock company)
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2016

(All amouris in Saudi Riyals uniess otherwise siated)

12. Due from joint venture partnsrs

December 31, Dacember 31,

Notes 2016 2015

Due from Mosalc 42.2 - 450,000,000
Due from SABIC 42.2 - 270,000,000
Total “ 726,000,000

On August §, 2013, the Company entared into an agreement with Mosaic and SABIC to jointly develop a fully
integrated phosphate production facility known as the Umm Wu'al phosphate project (Note 2.8},

As per the agreement Mosaic and SABIC are liable to pay contractual dues to Ma'aden of SAR 1.44 billion in
two instaliments for the histerical cost incurred by Ma'aden con the project. First instafiment, 50% of SAR 1.44
billien, was received by Ma'aden during the year ended Decsmber 31, 2013 and the remaining 50% of SAR
1.44 billion due on June 330, 2016 was raceived in full.
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5AUDI ARABIAN MINING COMPANY (MA'ADEN)
{& Saudl Arablan joint etock company)

Notes fo the consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2016
{All amounts in Saudi Riyals unless otherwise slated)

A'RDEN

18. Jointly conirolied entitles

December 31, December 31,

2016 2015

SAMAPCO (Note 18.1) 295,260,564 372,774,230
MBCC (Note 18.2) 632,406,115 828,680,585
Teie! 1,127,666,676 1,201,454 B24

18.1 SAMAPCO

The investment of 50% in the Issued and paid-up share capital {Note 2.9} Is as follows:

December 31, Decembear 31,

2018 2015

Shares at cost (Note 49) 450,000,000 450,000,000

Share of the accumulated loss {202,737 B58) (125,224,180}

Carrying value of investment 247,262,142 324,775,820

Long-term joan (Note 42.2) 47,888,418 47.99B,418

Total (Note 16} 285,260,561 372,774,236
Share of the accumulated loss in SAMAPCO

2018 2018

January 1 (125,224,180} (33,593,314)

Shere in net loss for year {77,513,678) {9+1,630,868)

December 31 (202,757 B58) (125,224,180)

18.2 MBCC

The investment of 50% In the issued and paid-up share capital {Note 2.10) is as follows:

Dacamber 31, December 31,

2018 2015

Shares at cost (Note 49) 202,482,646 202,482 648
Share of the accumulated income 3,725,530 -
Carrying value of investmant 206,208,176 202,482 B46
Long-term loan {Note 42.2) 626,187,838 626,197,939
Total (Note 1E) B32,408,1415 828,680,585

During the year ended December 31, 2044, the Company entered into & loan agreements with MBCC. The
purpose of this joan facllity is to provide funding to MBCC for business. The lean is non-interest bearing with

no fixsed repayment date.

Share of the accumuleted income in MBCC

2015

2018
January 1 .
Share in net Income for year 3,725,530
Decemnber 31 5,725,530
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SAUDI ARABIAN MIKING COMPANY {MA'ADEN)
{A Saudi Arabian joint stock company)

Notes to the consclidated financial statements for the year ended Decamber 31, 2018

(Al amounts In Saudi Rivals widess otherwise slated)

18. Long-term investment

Securities with original maturities of more than a year at the date of

acquisition

20. Projects and other payables

Currant portion:
Projects

Trade

Retentions

Advances from customers
Other

Sub-total

Non-current portion:
Retentions and other payables
Non-refundable contributions*

Sub-total

Total

December 31,
2018

December 31,
2015

50,000,000

50,000,000

December 31,

Decamber 31,

2018 2015
209,652,421 780,749,784
812,591,885 649,763,200
101,896,685 126,692,142
245,066,728 232,969,329

38,082,663 19,838,546

1,408,200,382

1,610,043,001

1,980,257,388
126,080,875

1,251,081,664
83,305,585

2,106,338,263

1,334,387,625

5,514,538,625

3,144,400,630

Project payables mainly represents the Hability in respect of contracts cost arsing from MRC, MBAC and

MWSFC.

*Conftributed by one of the MAC’s and MWSPC’s contraclors to support the companies’ objective to establish

a social responsibility fund for the development of a community project.

21. Accrued expenses

Projects
Trade
Employees

Accrued expensss — Alcoa Corporation (Note 42.2)

Accrued expenses ~ Mosaic (Note 42.2)
Finance charges

Yotal

December 31, December 31,
2018 2015
1,643,252,732 3,542 581,483
637,160,076 635,989,401
291,501,870 245,454,800
312,180,363 67,026,655

4 475402 14,983,460

20, B57.795 13,885,780

2,622,438,338

4,520,925,588

Accrued expenses for projects mainty represents the contracts cost aceruals in relation to MRC, MBAC and

MWSPC,

Accrued expenses for Alcoa Cormporation mainty represents the personnel and other cost accruais related to

the Alcoa Comporation employees saeconded to MAC, MRC and MBAC.

Accrued expanses for Mosalc malnly represents the personnel and other cost accruals related to the Mosalc

employees seconded to MWSPC.
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SAUDI ARABIAN MINING COMPANY (RMA'ADEN)
{A Saudi Arablan joint etock company}

Notes fo the consalidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2016
{All amounte in Saudi Rivals unless otherwise stated)

22. Zakat
22.1 Components of zakat base

The significanl components of the zakat base of sach company under the zskat and income tax regulation
are as follows:

shareholders’ equity at the beginning of the quarter / pariod / year,
provisions at the beginning of the guarier / period / year;
long term borrowings;

adjusted nat Income;

spare pans and consumable malerials:

net book value of property, plant and equipment;

net book value of capital work-in-progress;

net book value of exploration and evaluation assets;

net book value of intanglble assets;

camying value of investment in a jointly controlled entity; and
other itemns.

2 & € 5 8 o & 494 & @ a

Zakat is calculated at 2.5% of the higher of the zakat hase or adjusted net income.

22.2 Zakat payabie

Note 2016 2015

January 1 50,062,237 58,735,918

Provigion for zakat 78,428,404 46,374,297

Current year 85,308,278 50,962,237

Prior year over provision i 6,679,874} (4,587 .940)

Paid during the year to GAZT (44,062,363} (54,147,878}

December 31 22 85,308,278 50,962,237
22.3 Provision for zakat consist of.

Year ended Year ented

Dacember 31, Decembar 31,

Mote 2016 2018

Saudi Arabian Mining Company 79,345,905 19,768,600

Ma'aden Phosphate Company 2,748,153 23,097,236

Ma'aden Gold and Base Metals Company 23.2 . 1,076,248

tndustrial Minerals Company 1,728,962 3,010,008

Ma'aden Infrastructure Company 1,415,258 3,868,156

Total B5 308,278 50,962 237

22.4 Status of fina! assessments

The Company and its subsidiaries received provislonal zakat certificates for the years ended December 31,
2008 to December 31, 2015, however, no zakat assessments ware finalized by the GAZT.,




SAUD! ARABIAN MINING COMPANY (MA'ADEN}
{& Szud| Arablan joint stock company)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2016
{All amounts in Saudi Riyals uniess otherwise stated)

23, Severance fees payable

Nota 2018 205
January i 16,006,147 29,638,170
Provision for severance fee 34 B,278,038 17,834,852
Current year 23.1 #,270,636 16,096,147
Previous year under provision 7,403 1,838,706
Paid during the year to the authorities (16,103,550} {31.476,675)

December 31 §,270,636 16,096,147

In accordance with the Saudi Mining Code based on the Royal Decree No. 47/M dated 20 Sha’aban 14254
{corresponding fo October 4, 2004}, the Group Is reguired to pay to the Government of Saudi Arabia
severance fees, reprasenting 25% of the annual net income per mining license, as defined, or the equivalent
of a hypothetical income tax, based on the annual net Income, whichever Is lower, The zaket due shall be
deducted from this amount. Therefore the net income for each mining license registered in the name of
MGBM, MPC and MBAC is subject to seversnce fees.

Saverance fees are paid by IMC, the registered holder of & small mining license, at a fixed tariff per lonnes

sold of low grade bauxite, kaclin and magnasia.

Severance fees are shown as part of cosl of sales in the consolidated statement of income.

23.1 Provision for severance fees consists of;

Year ended Year ended
December 31, December 31,
Note 2016 2015
Gold mines 23.2 6,949,653 14,323,021
Low grade bauxite 852,382 1,383,664
Kaolin 246,268 240,154
Magnesia 122,333 149,308
Total 23 8,270,636 16,096,147
23.2 The provision for severance fees payable by gold mines is calculated as follows:
Year ended Year ended
December 31, Dscember 31,
Notss 2018 2015
Net income from operating mines before severance fee
for the year 125,745,830 72,814,394
25% of the year's net income as defined 31,436 457 15,228,598
Hypothetical income tax based on year's taxable net
income 6,840,683 15,395,268
Provision based on the lower of the above two
computations 6,249,653 15,399,269
Provision for zakat 22.1 . 1,076,248
et ssverance fee proviston for the year 231 6,240 653 14,323,021
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SAUD| ARABIAN MINING COMPANY (MA'ADEN)
(A Szudi Arablan jolnt stock company)

Notes fo the consolidated financial statements for the year ended Dacember 31, 20416
(All amounts in Saudi Riyals unless otherwise stated)

24. Employees’ benefite

December 31, December 31,
2016 2015
Employees’ termination beneflts {Note 24.1) 385,781,848 304,497,276
Employees’ savings plan {Note 7 and 24,2} 55,341,221 48,607,054
Yotal 425,133,068 353,304,330
24.1 Employees' termination beanefits
2016 2015
January 1 304,487,276 254,443,608
Provision for the year 80,095,845 79,567,555
Paid during the year (18,801,273} {29 513 B87Y
December 31 365,791,848 304,497,276
24.2 Employees’ savings plan
2096 2018
January 1 48,807,054 35,831,821
Contribution for the year 26,408,207 23,582 534
Withdrawals during the year (15,874,040) (10,707,301)
December 31 (Note 4.1¢ and 7) 56,341,221 48,807,054

25. Obligation under capitza] lease

During 2013, MAC on behalf of MBAC entered in a capital lease agrsement with a financial institution. The
lease payments under such agreements are due in monthly Instaiments. The amounts of future payments
under the leases ars as follows:

December 31, December 31,

20186 2015

Future minimum lease payments 28,804,027 45,506,127
Less: Financial charges not yet dus (3,120,808) (6,341,750)
Net presenti value of minimum lease payments 26,783,121 39,164,377
Less: Current portion shown under current liabilites (12,441,040) (12,131,184}
Long term portion of ahligation under capital leases 13,342,081 27,033,193
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SAUDI ARABIAN RINING COMPARNY (MA'ADEN)
(A Saudi Arabian joint stock company)

Motss to the consolidated financial statements for the year endsd Dscembaer 31, 2016
{All amounis in Saudi Riyals unless othenwise staled)

25. Obligation under capital iease {continued}

Maturlty profile
Deceraber 31, Decamber 31,
2016 2045

Minlmum leass payment falling dua during years ending

Decembar 31:
2016 - 15,602,100
2017 15,602,100 15,602,100
2018 14,301,827 14,301,827
Tota! 28,804,027 45,508,127

The present value of minimum lesse payments nas peen discounted at an effective interest rate of
approximately 0.858% per month. The leased assets as at Decemnber 31, 2016 of SAR 45,365,583

(December 31, 2015: SAR 45,947,425) are pledged as security to the lessor (Note 13).
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SAUDI ARABIAN MINING COMPARY (MA'ADEN)

(A Saudi Arabizn joint stock company}

Notes o the consolidated financiat siatements for the year ended December 31, 2016
(All amounts in Saudi Riyals unless ctherwise stated)

26. Provision for mine closure and reclemation (continued)

26.2 AlI-Bg'ithz bauxite ming
Notes

_______ Total
January 1, 2015 18,856,531
Accretion of provision during the year a8 1,394,847
December 31, 2015 26 20,251,378
Accretion of provision during the year ci) 1,465,156
December 31, 2016 26 21,716,534
Commenced commercial production in 2014
Expected closure date in 2058
26.3 Low grade bauxite, kaolin and magnesite
mines
Az Zabireh Al-Ghazallah
ming ming Total
January 1, 2015 1,600,000 450,000 2,050,000
Addiiions during the year 13 2,284 60D - 2,264 60D
December 31, 2015 26 3,864,600 450,000 4,314,600
December 31, 2016 26 3,B64,600 £50,000 4,314,800
Commenced commerclal production in 2008 2011
Expected closure date In 2026 2028

The provision for mine closure and reclarnation represents the full amount of the estimated future closure and
raclamation costs for the varous operstional mining properties, based on information curmently avaliable
including closure plans and applicable regutations. Future changes, if any, in regulations and cost
assurmplions may be significant and will be recognized when determined.,

The provislon for mine closure and reciamation relates to the Group’s gold, bauxite, low grade bauxiie, kaolin
and magnesite mining activity. An updated estimation of the phosphaie mine and plant closure and
rehabilitation works including facility decommissioning and dismantiing; removal or freatmert of wasie mateniats;
slte and {and rehablittation is In progress.
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SAUDI ARABIAN MINING COMPANY (RA'ADEN)
(A Saudi Arablan joint stock company)

AR GBEMH

Motes to the consolidated financiat statements for the year ended December 31, 2016
{Alt amounts in Saudi Rivals unless otherwise stated)

27.1 Facllities approved {continued)

The CTAs impose the following conditions and financial covenants on each of the borrowing legal entities of
the Group and if the conditions are met, the financial institutions will provide the long-term borrowing:

(-]

the fimitation on the creation of additional liens and/or financing obligations by MAC, MRC, MBAC and
MWSPC, unless specifically allowed under the CTA;

financial ratioc meintenance;
maximum capital expenditures allowsd;

restriction on dividend distribution to shareholders and

restriction on the term of the shortterm investment with maturities of not more than six {6} months from
tha date of acquisition, of any Saudi Arabian commerciel bank or any other international commercial
bank of recognized standing.

The MFAs imposed certain conditions and speclal covenants which include:

safeguarding the entities' existence as a limlted liability company validly existing under the laws of the
Kingdom of Saudi Arabia;

restriction to substantial change in the general nature of company’s business, unless specifically aliowed
under the MFA;

restricion to enter info a single transaction or e serles of transactions and whether voluntary or
involuntary to sell, lease, transfer or otharwise dispose of any asset, unless specifically allowed under the
MFA:

payment obligations under MFA at all times rank at least pari passu with the claims of all its other
unsecured and unsubordinated creditors except those creditors whose claims are mandaterily prefemed
by taws of general application to companigs;

financial ratio maintenance and

restriction on dividend distribution to shareholders.

MAC facility

On November 26, 2012, the contracts for US Dollar procurement and Saudi Riyal procursment were revised
to Increase the respectlve facility amounts. Accordingly, the CTA was also revised to reflect the new facility
amangeament.

*Facility Agents:

L3

&

Standard Chariered Bank acts as inter-creditor agent and as commerciat facility agant,

Bank Al Jazira acts as US Dollar procurement facility agent, as Saudi Riyal procurement facility agent, as
US Dollar Wakala facility agent and as Saud! Riyal Wakala facility agent,

SABB Securities Limited acts as onshore security agent and
Riyad Bank, London Branch acts as offshore securlty irustes and agent.

MRC facility

*Facility Agents:

<

*

Riyad Bank acts as Inter-creditor Agent

Bank Al Jazira acts as Riyal Procurement Faciity Agent

Baengue Saudi Fransi acts as Onshore Sacunty Agent

Riyad Bank, London Branch acts as Offshore Secunty Trustee and Agent

KBAC facifity

*Facility Agents:

[

HSBC Seudi Arabia Limited acts as inter-crediter Agent and as Commercial Faclllty Agent,

National Commerclal bank acts as Dollar Procurement Facliity Agent and Rilyal Procurement Facility
Agent,

Bank Al Jazira acts as Wakala Facility Agent,
HSBC Saud! Arabia Limited acls as Onshore Sscunity Agent and
Riyad Bank, Londen Branch acts as Offshore Security Trustes and Agent.
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SAUDI ARABIAN MINING COBPARY (MA'ADEN)
{A Saudl Arablan joint etock company)}

Notes to the consolidated financlal slatemsntie for the year ended December 31, 2016
{AH amounts in Saudi Riyals unless otherwise stated)

27.1 Facliities approved (continued)

MWSPC faciiity
“Facilty Agenis:

« Islamic Development Bank and HSBC Saudi Arabia act as agents for procurement facifity and

v Mizuho Corporate Bank Limited and Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation act as agenls for commercial
facility.

Saudi Arabizn Mining Company (“ifa'aden”)

On December 18, 2012, the Company entered into & Shanah compliant Syndicated Revolving Credit Faciiity
Agreement ("Murabaha Facility Agreement”) and other agreements (together referred lo as “financing
agreemants”) totaling to SAR 9 billion. Final maturity for repayment of the loan is five years from the date of
signing of the agreement. The facility is with a syndicate of local and interational financial institutions,
comprising of the following financial institulions:

«  AlRajhi Bank

« Arab Natlonal Benk
Bank Al-Bilad
« Bank AllJazira

¢« Bangque Saudi Fransi

J.P.Morgan Chase Bank, N.A_, Rlyadh Branch
Riyad Bank

Samba Financlal Group

The Naticnal Commercial Bank

« The Saud! Britlsh Bank

¢ The Saudi Investment Bank

L4

[

L

°

The financial covenants end conditions include the following with respect to standalone perent company only:
¢«  EBITDA to interest ratio shall not ba less than three times otherwise dividand block will be friggered:; and

= the total net debt to tangible net worth (parent company only) shall be less than or equal fo three times
otherwise an event of default wili be triggered which is subjact to a cure period of six months, or nina

months If the Company has ected expsaditiousty to cure such breach by initiating the process for a rights
issue,

MGBE Facllity

The compeny entered into two secured loan arangemenis with Saudi Industrial Development Fund (*SIDF).
The facilities granted to the Company comprise of the foliowing:

Date approved Purpose _Facliity BAR
March 24, 2015 To provide funding for the production of 8 semi elloy of gold at As Suq

mina 179,000,000
April 26, 2015  To provide funding for the capital expenditure of the new goid mine at

Ad-Duwayhi and water pipaiine 1,200,000.000
Totai facliities grented 1,378,000,000

The financing arrangements impose certain conditions and spacial covenents which include:

+ the limilation of the crestion of additiona! liens and/or financing obligations by the Company, unless
specifically allowed under the loan agreement,

¢ financial ratio maintenance,
«  maximum capital expenditures allowed,
¢ restriction on dividend distribution to sharsholders, and

« festriction on the temm of the short-term investment with matutities of not more than six {6) months from
the date of acquisition, of any Saudi Arabian commercial bank or any other intarnational commertiat
bank of recognized standing.
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SAUDI ARABIAN MINING COMPANY (MA'ADEN}
{A Saudi Arabian joint etock company}

Motes to the consolidated financlal stztemants for the yvear ended Decembar 31, 2016
{All amounts in Seudi Riyals unless otherwise stated)

27.1 Facilities approved (continued)
RMIC Facility

On December 30, 2015 the company entered Intc & Murabaha Facility Agreement (“MFA") with HSBC Saudi
Arabia Limited, comprising of:

Murabaha facility __Fecility granted
HSBC Saudi Arabia Limited - as agent for the Murabaha facility participants 1,000,000,000

The facllity was drawn down on February 17, 2016.

MPC facliity

On June 15, 2008 the company had entered Inte & CTA with a consoriium of financlal instiutions, however,
the facility had been repaid in full from a drawing on March 30, 2018 under a new MFA signed by the
company on February 25, 2018 with a Murabaha facllity participants comprising of:

Murabaha facility _ Facility granted
Riyad Bank ~ as agent for the Murabaha facility participants 11,493,750,000

The detalls of the CTA signed on June 15, 2008 wers as follows:

Public investment Fund ("PIF"} 4,000,001,250
Islamic and commercial banks
Bangue Saud! Fransi — as agent for the procurament facility participants 4,268,892 500
Mizuho Corporate Bank Limnlted — as agent for the commaerclal facility participants 1,491,562 ,500
AlRajhi Bank 2,343,750,000
The Export Import Benk of Korea 1,500,000,000
Korea Expaort Insurance corporation 750,000,000
Sub-total 10,355,205,000
Saudi Industrial Development Fund (“SiDF") 800,000,000
Totsl facilitles granted 14,855,206,250
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SAUDI ARABIAK MINING COMPANY (MA'ADEN}
{A Saudi Arabian joint stock company)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2016

{All amounts in Saudi Rivals uniess otherwise siated}

27.2 Facilities utllized under the different CTAs
MPC facility

This loan was rapaid in full on February 25, 2016.

Public Investment Fund
Less: Repaid during the year

Sub-tota! (Note 42.2)

The rate of commission on the principal amount of the loan
drawdown and outstanding for each commission parod was LIBOR
plus 0.5% psr annum.

Loan repayment started on June 30, 2012, on a six monthly basis,
in equat principal repayments of SAR 166.4 million over the temm of
the loan (Note 27.7).
Istamic and commercial banks

Saudli Riyal procurement

Al-Rajhi Bank

The Export imporl Bank of Koraa

Commerclal

Korea Export Insurance Corporation

Less: Repaid during the yaar
Sub-totaf

The rate of commission on the principal amount of the loan
drawdown and outstanding for each commission period was LIBOR
plus 0.5% to 1.15% per annum.

The repayment of this loan started on June 30, 2012, on a six
monthly basis, starting at SAR 255.1 miflion and increasing ovar the
term of the loan {Note 27.7).

Saudl industrial Development Fund

Less: Repaid during the year

Sub-total

The project follow-up cost paid during the drawdown amounted to
SAR 6.3 million.

Repayment of this koan started on February 26, 2013, on a six
monthly basis, starting st SAR 40 million and increasing over the
term of the loan (Note 27.7).

Total KPC barowings (Mote 27.6)
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December 31,
2046

December 31,
2015

2,668,600,835
2,668,800,835

3,001,600,938
332,800,103

2,668,800.835

3,456,612,925 3,693,457,013
1,898,437,500 2,027,343,750
1,088,500,000 1,230,000,000
804,415,625 065,826,563
548,250,000 615,000,000
7,906,216,050 8,531,627,326
7,806,216,050 625,411,276
. - 7,908,216,050
370,000,000 460,000,000
370,000,000 90,000,000

- 370,000,000

10,845,016,885




SAUDE ARABIAN RINING CORPANY {MA'ADEN)
(A Saudi Arabian joint stock company)}

Notss to the congolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2016
(Al amounts in Saudi Rivels unless otherwise stated)

27.2 Facilities utilized under the different CTAs (centinued}

RMAC facllity

Decambsr 31,

December 31,

201€ 2315
Pubiic investiment Fund 4,575,187,500 4,775,062,500
Less: Repaid during the year 188,875,000 198,875,000

Sub-total (Note 42.2)

The rate of commission on Lha prncipal amount of the loan
drawdown and outstanding for each commission period is LIBOR
plus 1.5%.

The repayment of the loan slarted on December 31, 2014, on a six
monthly basis, starting at SAR 99.9 million and increasing over the
term of the loan with the final repayment of SAR 1,218 million on
Juna 30, 2026 (Note 27.7).

Islamlc and commerclal banks

Dollar procurement
Saudi Riyal procurement
Commercial

Wakala

Less: Repald during the ysar
Sub-totat

“The rate of commission on the principal amount (lease base amount
in case of Wakala facliities) of the ioan drawn for each commission
period on all the US Doliar facilities is LIBOR plus a margin {mark-up
in case of Wakala facllities) that varies over the term of the loan. The
rate of commission on the principal amount {}ease base amount in
case of Wakala facilities) of the loan drawn for each commission
period on all the Saudi Riyal faciliies is Saudi interbank Offered
Rate (“SIBOR") plus a margin {mark-up in case of Wakala facilities}
that varies over the term of the loan. The margin‘mark-up on the
principal amount of the loan drawn for each commission pered is in
the range of 1.685% to 2.75% per annum.

The repayment of the loans started from December 31, 2014,
starting at SAR 138 million and Increasing over the term of the loan
with the final repayment of SAR 1,684 miilion on June 30, 2026
{Nota 27.7).

Saudi Industriat Development Fund
Less: Repaid during the year
Sub-total

Repayment of the SIDF facility started from February 4, 2015. The
repayments are starting at SAR 25 million and increasing over the
term of the lpan with the final repayment of SAR 62.5 million on
June 7, 2020 (Note 27.7).

Riyal Murabaha facility

During the quarter ended March 31, 2016, the rate of profit on the
purchase price i.e. principal amount of the loan drawn for each
commission period (s revised to SIBOR plus 1.25% from SIBOR
plus 1.75%.

The repayment of the Murabaha facility is due on March 31, 2018
(Note 27.7).

Total MAC borrowlings (Note 27.€)
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4,375,311,500

4,575,187,500

872,805,000
3,864,273,750
844,650,000
736,068,750

910,935,000
4,033,091,250
881,550,000
771,356,260

6,320,797,500
276,135,000

6,596,932,500
276,135,000

6,044,662,500

6,320,787,500

550,000,000
100,000,000

£70,000,000
50,000,200

450,000,000

519,999,800

375,000,000

11,244 975,000

375,000,000

11,790,984 ,800
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FEAADER

27.2 Facilities utilized under the different CTAs (continued)

MRC facility
Dacember 31, Decamber 31,
2016 20158
Public Investment Fund 3,078,750,000 3,078,750,000
Less: Repald during the year 30,787,808 o
Sub-total (Note 42.2) 3,047,862 500 3,078,750 000
The rate of commission on the principal amount of the loan drawn
for each commission period is London interbank Offered Rate
(*LIBOR") plus 1.5%.
The repayment of the ioan started on December 31, 2G16, on a six
monthly basls, starting at SAR 30.8 miliion and Increasing over the
term of the loan with the final repayment of SAR 153.9 million on
June 30, 2026 {Note 27.7}.
Islamic and commaercial banks
Riyal procurement 1,041,000,000 1,041,000,000
Legs: Repaid during the year 10,410,000

Sub-total

The rate of commission on the principai amount of tha loan drawn
for each commission period on all the Saudi Riyal faclites Is Saudi
interhank Offered Rate (*SIBOR") plus e margin that varies over the
term of the loan. The margin/mark-up on the principal amcunt of the
loan drawn for each commisgsion period is in the renge of 1.65% to
2.45% per annum.

The repayment of the loan started on December 31, 2016, starling
at SAR 10.4 million and increasing over the term of the {oan with
the final repayment of SAR 13.5 milllon on June 30, 2026 (Note
21.7).

Saudi industrial Development Fund
Less: Repaid during the year

Sub-total

Repayment of the SIDF facility started from January 25, 2016,
starting at SAR 25 miltion and increasing over the term of the loan
with the final repayment of SAR 62.5 million on July 19, 2021 (Note
27.73.

Riyal Murabaha facliity

The rate of profit on the purchase price i.e. principal amount of the
loan drawn for each commission period is Saudi Interbank Offered
Rate ("SIBOR™ plus 0.95%.

The repayment of Murabaha facility is due on August 31, 2017
{Note 27.7}.

Total MRC borrowings (Nole 27.6)
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1,030,580,000

1,041,000,000

600,000,000
50,000,000

570,000,000

550,000,000

570,000,000

375,000,000

5.003,552,500

375,000,000

5,064,750,000




SAUDI ARABIAN MINING COMPANY (MA'ADEN)
(A Saudl Arabian joint stock company}

Notes to the consalidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2016
{Ali emounts in Szudi Riyals uniess otherwise stalsd)

27.2 Facilities utilized under the different CTAs (continued}
MBAC facility

Dacsmber 31, Oecember 31,
2046 2018

Public investment Fund {(Note 42.2) 3,750,000,000 3,750,000,000

The rate of commission en the principal amount of the loan drawn
for each commission period is London Interbank Offered Reate
('LIBOR") pius 1.5%.

The repayment of the principal amount of PIF facility will be in 21
instaliments on a six monthly basis starting from June 30, 2017. The
repayments are starting at SAR 75 million and increasing over the
tarm of the loan with the final repayment of SAR 435 milllon on
June 30, 2027 {Note 27.7).

Islamic and commergial banks

Doliar procuramant 788,500,000 798,500,000
Riyat procurement 1,8681,212,844 1,861,212,844
Commercial 258,750,000 258,750,000
Wakala 768,750,000 768,750,000

Sub-total 3,716,212,544 3,718,212,844

The rate of commission on the principal amount (lease bass amount
In case of wakala facflities) of the loan drawn for each commission
period on the all the dollar facilities is LIBOR plus a margin {mark-up
in case of wakala facililies) that varies over the term of the loan. The
rate of commission on the principal amouni {lease base amount in
case of wakala facllities) of the loan drawn for each commission
period on aifl the Saudi Riyal facilities is Saudi Interbank Offered
Rate ('SIBOR") plus a margin {mark-up in case of wakala faciliies}
that varles aver the term of the loan. The margin/mark-up on the
principal amount of the loan drawn for each commissicn perigd s in
the range of 1.45% 10 2.4% per annum.

The repayment of the principal amounts of Islamic and commercial
total approved facliies will starl from June 30, 2017. The
repayments are starting at SAR 74 million and increasing over the
term of the loan with the final repayment of SAR 431 million on June
30, 2027 (Nots 27.7).

Saudl Industrial Development Fund 841,071,380 743,035,677

Repayment of the SIDF facility will start irom July 2017. The
repayments are starting at SAR 40 million and increasing over the
term of the loan with the final repayment of SAR 80 million in
April 2024 {Note 27.7).

SIDF has withhak! lpan processing and evaluation fee of SR 75
millian, The fea will be amortized over the term of the loan and the
unamorlized fee is SR 58 million as of December 31, 2016.

Total MBAC borrowings (Note 27.8) 8,300 284,234 8,211,248,621
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SAUD! ARABIAN MINING COMPANY (MA'ADEN)
(A Saudi Arabian joint stock company)

Notes to the consolidated financlal staterments for the year ended December 39, 2016

(All amounts in Saudi Riyals unless otherwise stated)

27.2 Faclities utilized under the different CTAs (continued}

KMWSPC facility

Public investment Fund
Less: Transaction cost balance at the yearend

Sub-total (Note 42.2)

The rate of commission on the principal amount of the ioan
drawdown and outstanding for each commission period, is LIBOR
plus 1.5% per annum.

The repayment of the principal amount of loan will be in 24
instaltments on a six monthly basie starling from June 30, 2019.
The repayments are starting at SAR 112.5 miillion and increasing
over the term of the loen with the final repayment of SAR 606
million on December 31, 2030 (Note 27.7).

Transaction cost incurred and is amortized over the term of the loan
amounted to SAR 6,484,542 {December 31, 2015; SAR 2,171,240)
{Note 14}.
islamic and commarciel banks

Daollar procurement fadlity

Saudi Riyal procurement facility

Wakala

Commarciai

Sub-tolal
Less: Trangaction cost balance at the yearsnd
Sub-total

The rate of commission on the princlpai amount of the loan
drawdown and outstanding for each commission perod is LIBOR
plus 1.25% to 2.10% per annum.

The repayment of the principal amounts of loans wilk starl from June
30, 2019. The repaymentis are starlng at SAR 171 million and
increasing over the term of the loan with the fimal repayment of SAR
803 mitlion on December 31, 2030 (Note 27.7).

Transaction cost incurred and is amorized over the term of

the toan amounted fo SAR 30,087,168 {(December 31, 201§
SAR 13,557,950} (Note 14).

Total MWSPC borrowlings (Note 27.6)

December 31, December 31,
2016 2015
$,838,278,174 3,954,229,920
64,847,843 71,307,385
6,7?&,435,331 3,882 922535
304,392,518 174,565,346
2,620,254 420 1,502,683,623
1,488,141,108 853,430,583
5,061,772.152 2,847,314,693

8,474,560,288
TE, 083,617

5,377,994,145
109,070,785

B,385,576,671

5,268,923,360

16,170,012,002

4,151,845,885

27.3 Facllitiss utilized under the Syndicated Revolving Credit Fecility

Ma'aden

Syndiceted Revolving Credit Faclltty (Note 27.6)

December 31,
2016

December 31,
2015

The rate of commission on the principal amount of the borrowing drewdown is SIBOR plus 0.85% per annum,
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SAUDI ARABIAN IINING COMPANY (MAADEN)
(A Saudi Arabian joint stock company)

MNotes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 34, 2016

(Al amounts in Saudi Riyals uniess otherwise slafed)

27.4 MGBM facility

As Suq Mine

Saudi Industrial Devetopment Fund

Less: Transaction cost balance at the yearend
Sub-total

{ ess: Repaid durng the year

Sub-total

The repayment of this loan started on July 20, 2016, on a six
monthly basis, starting at SAR 8 million and Increasing over the
term of the loan with the final repayment of SAR 18 milllion on
November 9, 2022 (Note 27.7}.

Transaction Incurmed and is amortized over the term of the loan
amounted to SAR 2,749,186 (December 31, 2015: SAR 1,391,897}
(Note 39),

Ad-Duwayhi Mine and water pipeline

Saud| Industriai Development Fund

Less: Transaction cost batance at the ysarend
Sub-otal

The repaymeant of this loan will starl on July 9, 2017, on a six
monthly basis, starting at SAR 60 million and increasing over the
term of the loan with the final repayment of SAR 100 miliion on
Ocliober 30, 2022 {Note 27.7}.

Transaction incurmed and is amorlized over the term of tha icen
amounted to SAR 14,802,978 (December 31, 2015: Nil) (Note 39).

Total MGEM borrowings (Note 27.8}

27.5 Facilities utilized under the different MFAs
MIC factitty

HSBC Saudi Arabia Limited - as agent for the Murabaha faciity
participants

Less: Transaction cost balance at the yearend
Sub-total

Less: Repaid during the year

Total MIC horrowings (Mole 27.8)

December 31, Dacember 31,
2016 2015
179,000,000 143,200,000
G 258017 12,008,103
168,741,083 131,191,897
§,0460,000
161,741,063 131,191 887
804,507,000 120,000,000
65,157,022 16,000,000
739,308,978 104,000,600
01,054,061 235,191,887
Decamber 31, December 31,
2048 2015
1,000,000,000
9,000,000 -
991,000,000
18,000,000
952,000,000

The rate of commission on the principat amount of the foan drawdown and outstanding for each commission

period, is in the range of SIBOR plus 1 % per annum,

The repayment of the principal amount of the loan wii commence on December 30, 2016, in equal principal
repayments of SAR 39 million, on a semi-annual over a 10 year period with the final principal repayment of

SAR 298 million on December 30, 2025 {Nota 27.7).

Transaction cost Incurred and is amortized over the term of the {pan amounted o SAR 1,185,000

(Decembar 31, 2015: Nil) (Note 39}.
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SAUDI ARABIAN MINING COMPANY (MA'ADEN)
(A Saudi Arabian |oint stock companyj

Motes to the consolidated financlal siastements for the year ended December 31, 2016
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&' BBER

47.5 Facilities utilized under the different MFAs (continued)

December 31,
205

MPC facility
December 31,
2016
Riyad Bank — as agent for the Murabaha facllity participants 11,488,750,000
Less: Transaction cost balance at the yearend 58,053,754

Total MPC borrowings {(Note 27.6) 14,304,765 246

The rate of commission on the principat amount of the loan drawdown and outstanding for each commission
period, is in the range of LIBOR plus 1% per annum for SAR Murabaha facility and LIBOR plus .1% per

annum for US Dollar Murabaha facility.

The repaymeni of this loan will start from February 25, 2017, starting at SAR 575 million and increasing over

the term of the loan with the final repayment of SAR 3,448 million on February 25, 2023,

Transaction cost incurred and is amortized over the terrn of the loan amounted to SAR 15,983,746

(December 31, 2015: Nif) {Note 3g).

27.6 Total borrowings

December 31, Decemiber 31,
- 2018 2015
Facliities utilized under:
CTAs (Note 27.2):
MPC - 10,945,016,885
MAC 11,244,875,000 11,790,984,800
MRC 5,003,552,500 5,064,75(,000
MBAC 8,309,284,234 8,211,248,521
MWSPC 16,170,012,002 8,151,845,885
Syndicated Revolving Credit Faclity (Note 27.3):
Ma'aden
MGBM facility (Note 27.4) 201,051,061 235,191,897
MFAs {Note 27.5):
MIC 952,000,000
MPC 1,384,7¢6.2¢6 -
Sub-total 53,875,671,043 45,399,037,808

Less: Current portion of berrewings shown under cumrent

liabilities

KMPC 1,149,375,000

MAC 576,010,000

MRC 532,395,000

MBAC 33e,728,517

MGBM 78,000,000

MIiC 76,000,000
Sub-{otal 2,752,508,547

Leng-term pottion of borrowings

56

1,089,112,404
951,010,000
81,197,500

2,131,315,504

51,223 162 6526

43,267,718,084




SAUD ARABIAN MINING COMPANY (MA'ADEN}
(A Saudi Arablan joint stock company)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the yeer ended December 31, 2016

{All ermounts in Saudi Rivels unless otharwise stated)

27.7 Maturity profile of long-lerm borrowings

2016
2017
2018
2018
2020
2021
2022
2023 through 2030

Total

December 31,
2016

Decsmber 31,
2045

2,752,508,518
3,111,859,645
3,634,171,943
3,893,420,400
4,621,582,508
6,003,640,012

28,858,483,018

2,131,319,904
2,562,245,922
3,185,503,189
3,347,766,713
3,473,132,097
3,945,767,134
4,291,783,358
22,461,519,671

§3,875,671,043

45,399,037,888

As of December 31, 2015, current portion of MPC's long-ferm bormowings of SAR 1,089,112,404 is included in
the maturity profile dus in the next 12 months, Out of this amouni, SAR 544,556,202 was restricted in the
debl service reserve account for the nexl scheduie repayment, six months prior to the due date, as per the
facility agreement (Note 7).

27.8 Facilities’ curency denomination

Essentlally all of the Group's faciifties have been contracted in United States Dollar {US3) and Saudi Riyals
{SAR) and the drawdown balancas in US$ are shown below:

bBecember 31, December 31,

2016 2015

{LIS%) (USE)

Pubtlic Investment Fund 4,786,056,088 4,788,176,221

Islamile and commerdial banks

Procurement 2,453,712,892 3,122,118,824

Al-Raihi Bank - 506,250,000

The Export Import Bank of Korea 292,400,000

Korea Export Insurance Corporation - 146,200,000

Commaercial 1,828,007,077 1,286,141,272

US Dollar procurement 515,833,718 490,955,406

Wakala 786,190,750 623,974,433

Sub-total 5,383,744 537 5,468,039,835

Saudi Industrial Development Fund 131,232,654 650,193,966
Murabaha facility 3,202,476,880

Riya! Murabaha fachity (a working capltal facility) 200,000,000 200,000,000

Syndicated Revolving Credit Facility

Total

27.8 Securty

14,383, 012,278

12,106,410,132

The following assets were pledged as security for these long-term bomowings in accordance with the

applicable CTAs and MGBM facility:

Property, plant and equipment {Note 13}
Capltal work-in-progress {Note 14}
Intanglble assets {Note 17)

Total
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Dacambar 31,
2016

December 31,
2013

33,283,863,678
31,183,895,086

103,105,986

35,706,647,560
37,197,115,376
85,374,130

64,870,864,740

72,988,137,066




SAUDI ARABIAN MINING CORMPANY (MAADEN)
{4 Saudi Arablan joint stock company)

Neotes fo the consolidated financial statements for the yezr ended December 31, 2016
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28,

29,

30.

31.

Due to joint venture partner

Due to Alcoa Corporgtion (Note 42.2)

December 31,
2016

Dacgmibser 31,
20148

308,700,913

300,703,363

Due fo Alcoa Comporation represents their share of 25.1% in the joint venture project cost to extend the
product mix of the aluminium complex, currently under constructlon at Ras Al-Khair, to include:

« automotive heat {reated and non-heat treated sheet,
« building and construction sheet and
s foil stock sheet {Note 1).

Share capital

Authorized, issued and fully paid

1,168,478,261 Ordinery shares with 2 nominal value of SAR 10
per share {Note 1 and 41)

Shere premium

525,000,000 Ordinary shares with a nominal value of SAR 10 per
share, issued at a premium of SAR 10 per share

243,478,281 Ordinary shares with a nominat value of SAR 10 per
share, issued at a prermtum of SAR 13 per share,
het after transaction cost

768,478,261 Total

Transfer of net income

January 1
Transfer of 10% of net income for the year

Decermber 31

December 31,
2016

Decembsr 31,
2018

11,684,782,610

11,684,782,610

December 31, December 31,
2016 2015
5,250,000,000 5,250,000,060

3,141,351,687

3,141,351,687

8,381,3151,687

8,291 351,667

2016 2018
757,811,634 697,394,235
40,083,608 60,517,285
787,875,542 757,911,634

in accordance with Regulations for Companies in Saudi Arabla, the Company has established & statutory
reserve by the appropriation of 10% of net income unti! such reserve equals 50% of the share capital. Such

transfer is made on an annual basis and the reserve is not available for dividend distribution.
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3Z. Non-controlling interest

Net income f

{ioss}
Paymenis to  attributable to
Share incrazes non-conirolilng
capial  share capital interast Total
32.1 Ma'aden Aluminium Company
January 1, 2015 1,650,011,250 - 10,070,524 1,660,081,774
Share of net loss for the year - - {52.641,685) {52.641,695)
December 31, 2015 1,650,011,250 - (42,571,171} 1,607,440,079
Share of net income for the year - - 43113.576 43,113,576
December 31, 2016 1,650,01 1,250 . 542,405 1,650,553658
322 Ma'aden Roiling Company
Jenuery 1, 2015 614,701,095 20,893,195 (6,410,563} 629,183,737
Share of net loss for the year - - (9,821,403}  (8,821,403)
Payments to increase shara capiial during
the vear - 28,363,458 - 28,363,458
December 31, 2015 614,701,095 48,256,653 (16,231,856} 647,725,792
Share of net ioss for the year - - (4,914,420}  (4.814,420)
Increase in non-controlting interest during
the year 7,119,228 (7.118,228) - -
December 31, 2016 621,620,323 42 137 425 {21,146,376] 642611,372
32.3 Ma'aden Bauxite and Alumina
Company

January 1, 2015 1,123,224,972 135,185,373 (7,442,472} 1,250,977,873
Share of net icss for the year - - (2,568,300) {2,568,300)

Paymants to increase share capital during

the year - 21,679,654 . 21,679,654
Increass in non-controlling interest during

the year 83278002 (53,278,002} - -
December 31, 2015 1,206,502,974 73,587,025 (10,010,772} 1,270,089,227
Share of net foss for the year . - (26,271,767} (26,271,767}
Increase in non-controtling interest during

the year 5,441,593 {5,441.583) .
December 31, 2016 1,211,944,567 66,155,432 {36,282,538) 1,243 817,460

59
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32. Non-controlling Interest {continued}

Net Income /
(loss)

Paymants (o attributable fo
Sharg Increase non-contretiing
cepitel  shere capital interest Total
324 Ma'aden Phosphate Company
January 1, 2015 1,862,544,000 570,013,226 2,432,557,226
Dividend paid during the year (Nate 42.1) - - (330,000,000) {330,000,000)
Share of net income for the year - - 270,315,026 270,315,026
December 31, 2015 1,862,544,000 - 510,328,252 2,3712,872,252
Dividend paid during the year (Note 42.1) - « (451,192,963} (451,192,963}
Shara of net loss for the year ) - {7.056,627} (7.066,627)
Decamber 31, 2016 1,662,544,000 - 82,078 662 1,814,622 662
32.5 Ma'aden Wa'ad Al Shamal
Phosphate Company

January 1, 2015 852,000,750 - {1,236,162) 850,764,588
Share of net loss for the year - {2,380,998} (2,380,998)
tssuance of non-coniralling interest during

the year 1,350,000.000 - 1,350,000,000
December 31, 2015 2,202,000,750 {3,617,160) 2,198,383,580
Share of net loss for the year - {4,944 174} (4,944,174)
{ssuance of non-controliing inferest during

the year 600,000,000 - ~ 600,000,000
December 31, 2016 2,602,000,750 . (8,561,334 2,781,438,418
326 Summary total
January 1, 2015 6,102 ,482,067 156,088,568 564,994,563 6,823,565,198
Dividend pald during the year (Note 42,1} - - {330,000,000) (330,000,000}
Share of nst income for the year - 202,602,630 202,902,630
Payments to Increase share capital during

the year (Note 42.1) 50,043,112 50,043,112
Increase in non-controlling Interast during

the year 1.433.278,002 {B3,278,002} - 1,3580,000,000
December 31, 2015 7,535,760,068 122,853,678 437,887,193 8,006,510,940
Dividend paid during the year (Note 42.1) - - (451,192,963) (451,192,963)
Share of net loss for the year {(73.412) {73,412}
increase in non-controlling interest during

the year 612,560,621 {(12,560,821) 600,000,000
December 31, 2016 8,148, 320,680 $10,282 857 (13,562 182) B,445,244 565
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Notes to the coneolidated financlal statemsnts for the year ended Dacember 31, 2016
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33. Sales

Phosphate segment
Phosphats fertilizer
Ammonia

Low grade bauxite

Caustic calcined magnesia
Kaolin

Sub-total

Aluminium segment
Primary alurminium

Gold and base metals segment
Gold

Infrastructure
Infrastructure revenue

Total

Gold sales analyeis
Quantity of gold ounces {Oz) soid
Average realized price per ounce (Oz) in:
uss
Saud! Riyais (equivalent)

34. Cost of sales

Salaries and siaff related benefits
Contracted setvices

Repairs and maintenance
Consumgbles

Cverheads

Raw material and utilittes consumed
Inventory loss

(Decrease) / Increase in allowance for inventory obsolescence

(Note 10}
Deferred siripping expanse {Note 16)
Severance fees (Note 23)
Sale of by-products {(Note 34.1)
Total cash operating costs
Depreciation (Note 13}
Amortization (Note 17)
Totel operating costs

Decrease f {Increase) in Inventory {Note 10}

Total

61

¥Yaar endad Year ended
December 31; December 31,
2018 2018
3,241,417,636 4,542 770,526
814,808,407 761,572,269
70,487,397 96,837,110
38,224,871 48,532,148

40 286, 228 38,388,067
4,205,434,838 5,488,100,120

4,252,077,395

4,762,750,070

1,048,707,732 705,215,748
21,250 60,000

& 500,241,296 50,856,125,838
224,576 164,838
1,245 1,140

4,670 4,276

Year ended Year ended
December 31, December 31,
2016 2015
754,733,708 766,935,805
469,566,072 407,524,000
62,732,179 61,641,329
143,871,934 104,894,447
359,225,608 358,339,102
3,244,137,027 4 507 871,792
- 121,212,929

{131,520} 625,666
11,477,572 36,589,184
8,276,038 17,834,852
{40,715,302) {B,058,724}
5,013,277 .407 6,375,510,382
2,387 .B46.118 2171,612,693
30,B6%,388 40,771,932
7,441,992,822 8,587,885,007
17,875,541 (70,813,271)
7,458,568 462 8,647,081,736




SAUDI ARABIAN MINING COMPANY (MA'ADERN)
{A Saud! Arabian joint stock company)

Hates to the consolidated financial statements for the vear ended Decamber 34, 2018
{Alt amounts in Saudi Riyels uniess ojherwise staled)

34.1 Sale of by-preducls camprise of the following commodities:

Copper
Zinc
Silver

Total (Note 34)

38, Selling, marketing and loglstic expenees

36.

ar.

Salaries and staff related banefits
Contracted services

Freight and overheads
Consumables

Deduclibles

Marketing fees

Cther selling expenses
Amortization {Note 17)

Total

General and administrative expenses

Salaries and staff related benefits
Contracted services

Overheads and other

Consumables

Repair paris

Atlowance for doubtful debts {Note 9)
Depreclation {Note 13)

Amortization (Note 17)

Total

Exploration and technical services expenses

Salaries and staff related benefits

Contracted services

Ovarheads and other

Consumables

Repair parts

Depraciation (Note 13)

tmpalment of expioration and evaluation assat (Note 15)

Total
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Year ended Year ended
December 31, Decembear 31,
2016 2015
17,654,052 4,086,547
17,580,494 2,831,306
§,261,756 1,060,871
40,715,302 6,058 724
Year ended Year ended
December 31, December 31,
2016 2015
43,183,374 33,008,210
3,311,801 20,076,668
147,377,468 156,026,800
63,942 122,847
151,350,159 128,752,748
69,196,820 125,843,044
25,571,378 35,023,091
- 29,119,343
410,054,843 531,872,851
Year ended Year ended
December 31, Decembar 31,
2014 2015
228,491,952 306,316,781
30,023,053 52,519,186
34,918,046 43,374,730
1,735,433 3,284,681
820,674 707,717
312,475 3,200,000
31,348,323 34,748,428
4,858 037 4,227,308
333,547,083 448,376 831
Year ended Year ended
Dlecember 31, Decembar 31,
2016 2015
35,736,710 59,273,382
8,813,200 52,003,363
3,743,012 6,164,744
248,258 1,548,428
10,812 1,180,513
2,538,701 3,265,830
- 20,306,483
51,000,782 143,756,653




SAUDI ARABIAN IAINING COMPANY (MA'ADEN)
(A Saudi Arabian joinf stock company)

Notee to the consolidated financizl statements for the year ended December 31, 2016
(All amounts in Saudi Riyals uniess otherwise stated}

MA'RBER

38,

39.

40.

Income from short-termn investments

income received and accrued on short-tem Investment

Finance charges

Public Investment Fund

Saudl Riyal procurement

Al-Rajhi Bank

The Export Impart Bank of Korea
Korea Export Insurance Corporation
Commercigl

US Dollar procurement

Wakala

Saudi Industriat Development Fund
Riyal Murabaha Facility

Revolving Credit Facllity
Armortization of transaction cost (Note 27.4 and 27.5)
Others

Sub-total (Note 38.1)

Accretion of provision for mine closure and reclamation (Note 26,2}

Total

38.1  Summary of finance charges

Expensed during the year {Nots 38)

Capitalized as part of qualifying assets In capital work-In-progress
during the year {Note 14)

Total

Other income, net

Other income / {(expenses), nel

63

Year endad Year ended
December 31, December 31,
2016 2015
151,636,138 35,583 877
Year endad Year ended
December 31, December 31,
2016 2015
140,705,757 117,755,418
176,104,082 152,174,784
8,226,879 26,552,371
2,184,015 11,478,3H
5,728,642 5,567,746
31,031,974 34,243,013
31,179,532 22,436,639
36,748,886 22,555,454
8,500,981 6,266,101
274,871,707 10,119,728
84,287,882 34,247,548
34,720,810 1,391,867
5,677,078 4,267,805
824,388,335 449,057,996
1,465,156 1,384,847
825,653,481 450,452 843
Yegar ended Year ended
December 31, December 31,
2016 2015
824,388,335 449,057,996
647,205,389 443,008,951
1,471,583,724 822 067 847
Year ended Year ended
December 31, December 31,
2016 2015
33,843,164 56,410,082




SAUDI ARABIAN RINING COMPANY (MA'ADEN)
(A Szudi Arablan Joint stock company)

Notes tc the consolidated financial statemenis for the year ended December 31, 2016

(Al amounts in Saudi Rivals unless othenwise stated)

41. Earnings per ordinary share

Nst income aliributabie to the shareholders of the parent company

Welghted average number of ordinary shares In lssue during the
yoar {Note 29}

Basic and diluted eamings per ordiriary share from continuing
operations

Year ended Year ended
December 31, December 31,
2016 2015
400,638,080 605,173,845

1,168,478,2681

(.34

1,168,478,261

0.52

Basic eamings per ordinary share is calculated by dividing the net income attributabie to the shareholders of
the parent company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in tssue during the year.

42. Related party transactions and balances
421 Related party fransactions

Transactions with relaled parties cartied out during the year, in the nommat course of business, are

summarized below:

Noles

Sales through SABIC during the year
Sales to Alcoa Inespal, S.A. during the year

Cost of seconded employees, technology fee and other
cost paid io Alcoa Corporation during the year

Raw materlal feedstock purchased from Alcoa Australia
Dividend paid to SABIC

Payments to increase share capital raceived from
Aicoa Corporaticn 32.6

42.2 Related party balances

Amount dus from / {io) related parties arsing from
transaction with related parties are as follows;

Kotes

Receivables from related parties

Trade recelvables from Alcoa inespal, S.A.
Trade receivables from SABIC

Other receivables from SABIC

Due from Saudi Mining Potytachnic

w0 O O ©

Sub-totat

Due from joint venture pariners

Due from Mosaic 12
Due from SABIC 12

Sub-total

Total

64

32.4,32.6

Year ended Year ended
Becember 31, December 31,
20148 2015
1,805,740,841 3,107,384,719

1,012,405,328

1,110,685,573

194,440,171 530,834,985
34,810,059 668,007,797
451,192,963 330,000,000
50,043,112
Dacember 3%, December 31,
2016 20145
88,087,620 87,897,065
195,110,088 407 155,456
28,807,037
3,851,088 2,166,504
316,855,844 457,216,025
- 450,000,000
- 270,000,000
- 720,000,000

1,217,218,025




SAUD! ARABIAN BMINING COMPARY (MA'ADEN}
{A Saud! Arablan joinl stock company)

Hotes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2016
{All emounis In Saudi Riyals unless otherwise staled) i

42.2 Related party bzlances {continued)

Becamber 31,

December 314,

Notes 2018 2015
Long-ferm loan due from a related party
Due from SAMAPCO 18.1 47,098 418 47 598,419
Due from MBCC 18.2 826,187,038 626,197,939
Totat 674,196,358 674,126,356
Payabile to related party
Accrued expenses — Alcoa Corparation 21 32,180,363 67,026,655
Payments o increase sharse capital receivad from Alcoa
Corporation 326 110,252,657 122,853,678
Long-term borrowlngs from PIF, 5 50% shareholder
in Me'aden
Due to PIF for the financing of the :
MPC facility 272 - 2,668,800,835
MAC facility 272 4,375,312,500 4,575,187,500
MRC facility 27.2 3,047,862,500 3,078,750,000
MBAC facility 27.2 3,750,000,000 3,750,000,000
MWSPC facility 27.2 6,774,435,331 3,862,922 535
Total 17,847,710,331 17,955,660 870
Due to joint venture pariners
Due {o Mosaic 21 4,475,402 14,983,460
Due to Alcoa Corporation 28 306,780,113 300,703,363
Total 311,205,515 315,686,823
43. Operating lease agreements
Year ended Year ended
Decambrer 31, December 31,
2016 2015
Payments under operating leases recognized as an expense
during the year B,342 804 8,081,750
Future minimum operating lease commitments due under these
operating leases are as follows:
2016 . 7,206,356
2017 3,608,344 3,718,856
2018 2,264,006 3,718,856
2018 1,411,760 3,718,856
2020 1,267,200 3,808,856
2021 1,287,200 3,608,856
2022 1,287,200 3,608,856
2023 through 2041 10,758,111 34,394,143
Total 21,844,911 63,583,635

Operating lease payments represent mainly rentals payable by the Group for mining lease areas. Leases are
negotiated for an averege term of 15 to 30 years.
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SAUDI ARABIAN MINIRG COMPANY (MA'ADEN)
{A Szudi Arabian joini stock company}

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2046
{All amounts in Saudi Riyals unless otherwise stated)

44. Commitments and contingent lizbilities

45.

441 Commitments

Capltal expenditures:

Contracted for

Guarantees:

Guarantess in favor of Saud| Aramco, for future diesel and gas
feedstock supplies

Guarantess in favor of Ministry of Energy, industry and Mineral
Resources for fulure purified phosphaoric acid project, fuel and
feed stocks supplies

Guarantees in favor of SIDF and other financlal institutions for
financing facilities availabie to:*

SAMAPCO

MBCC

Sub-total
Guarantes in favor of Saudi Ports Authority
Othars

Total

December 31,
2016

December 31,
2015

3,046,586,12%

9,798 486,724

310,887,405 302,492,405
282,500,000 262,500,000
450,000,000 450,000,000
375,000,000 375,000,000
815,000,000 825,000,600
18,512,402 18,162,608
3e,61¥.412 41,108,162
1,456,517,298 1,449.261,175

*Ma’aden guaraniees to SIDF and other financial institutions for granting financing facifities to SAMAPCO
and MBCC to the exient of its shareholding of 50% in the jointly controlied entities.

44.2 Contingent liabilities

The Group has contingent labilities from time to time with respect {0 certain disputed matters, including
claims by and against contractors and lawsuits and arbltrations involving a variety of Issues. These contingent
liabilities arise out of the ordinary course of business. It is not anticipated that any material liabilities will be
incurred as a result of these contingent liabilities, There are no material environmenta! obligations or
decornmissioning labilities.

Financial risk management

The Group’s activities expose it 1o a variety of financial risks: markel risk (including currency risk, fair value
rigk, commission rate risk and commodity price risk), credit risk and fiquidily risk. The Group’s overall risk
menagement program focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks 1o minimize potential
adverse effects on the Group's financial performance.

45.1 Currency risk

Is the risk that the value of a finandial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange rates. The
Group transactions are principally in Saudi Riyals and US Dollars, Management monltors the fluctuations in
cumency exchange rates and balieves that the currency risk is not significant.

452 Falr value risk

Is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liablitty settied between knowledgeable willing
parties in an amm's length transaction. As the Group's financial instruments are compiled under the historical
cost convention, diflerences can arise between the book values and falr value estimates. Management
believes that the fair values of the Group's financlal assels and liablities are not materially different from their
carmying values.

&6




SAUD! ARABIAN MINING COMPANY (MA'ADEN)
(A Saudi Arabian joint etock company)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 34, 2016
{All amounts in Saudi Riyals unless otherwise stated)

a7,

453 Commission rate ek

Is the exposure to various risks associated with the effect of fluctuations In the prevailing commissicn rates on
the Group's financial position and cash flows. The Group’s commission rate risks arise mainly from ils short-
tenm Investments and fong term-borrowings, which are at floating rate of commission and are subject o re-
pricing on a regular basie. The Group monitors the fiuctuations in commission rate.

Based on the Groups net debt outstanding as at December 31, 2016, the sffact on its annual net eamings of
a 1% movement in the US Dellar LIBOR and SAR SIBOR commission rate would be SAR 458 million
{December 31, 2015: SAR 408 million}. These effects wili not remain consistent throughout 2017 due to
drawdown and repayment of long-tarm bomowing facllitles.

45.4 CommodIty price rigk

Most of the commoditles sold by the Group are priced in an active market in which prices respond to daily
changes in quantities. The Group's normal pollcy is to sell its products at prevailing market prices. The Group
does not generaily believe commodity price hedging would provide long-tern bansfit to the shareholders.

45.5 Creditrisk

is tha risk that one party will fail to discharge an obligation and cause the other party fo incur a financial loss.
The Group Is axposed lo credit risk from its operating activities {pertaining to trade recelvables mainly).
Howaver, the cash collection is made &t time of sales delivery and from its financing activities, including
deposits with banks and financial institutions. Credil limits are established for all customers based on intemal
rating criteria. Outstanding trade receivables are regularly monifored and any credit concems highlighted kn
senior management. Cash and short-term Investments are substantially placed with commercial banks with
sound credit ratings,

The Group cumently has three major customars which account for sakes of approximately SAR 3,338 million,
representing 35% of the Group's sales for the year ended December 31, 2016 {December 31, 2015: SAR
4,544 million representing 41% of Group's sales from three major customers). Trade receivables are carried
net of allowance for doubtful debis, if needed.

45.6 Liguidity risk

is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in raising funds to meet commilments essociated with
financial Instruments. Liguidity risk may result from an inability to selt a financial asset quickly at an amount
close to its falr value. Liguidity risk is managed by monitoring on a regular basis that sufficient funds ars
available to meet any future commitments.

. Events after the reporting dats

On January 1, 2017, the Company announced the commencement of commerdal production of the ammonia
plant of ite subsidiary MWSPC at Ras Al-Khair. The ammonia piant has achieved stable operations and has a
designed production capacity of 1.1 miilion tonnes of ammonia per year. The financial impact of this event will
be reflected from the first quarter of 2017 onwards.

Comparative figures
Certain comparative figures of the previous year have been reclassified, wherever necessary, to conform with

the current year's presentation. Such reclassifications did not affect either the net worth or the net income of
the Group for the previous or current year.
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SAUDI ARABIAN MINING COMPANRY {MA'ADEN)
(A Saud! Arablan joint stock company) ~
Notes to the consalidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 20186
(Al amounts in Saudi Riyals uniess otherwise siated)

48. Contingent assets held and Habliities incurred under fiduciary adminietration

On January €, 2013 MIC, a2 whoily owned subsidiary of Ma'aden, received an amount of USD 140 million (in
a fiduciary capacity) from the Ministry of Finance of the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, in accordance with the
Coungll of Minlsters’ Resalution No B7, dated 28 Rabi ul Awal 1433H {comesponding lo February 20, 2012},
for the purpose of establishing an industrial city in the Northern Borders Province, by the name of "Waad Al-
Shamal City for Mining Industries”. The aggrepate amount represents part payment of the following two
amounts approved by the Councll of Ministers:

< USD 508 million for the design and construction of the basic infrastructure and required utiitties of the
industrial city, and

¢ USD 200 million for the design and construction of the housing and required social facilities for the
proposed industrial city.

[n 2014, an additional amount of USD 250 million has also been received and deposited in a separate bank
account and does not form part of MIC’s available cash resources and has been actounted for in its own
standalone accounting records and has not been inlegratad with MIC's accounting records.

In 2018, the remaining balance of USD 310 milion was received. These amounts can only be utilized for the
designated purpose in accordance with the Councit of Ministers Resolution and replenished basad on the
presentation of supporting documents for the expenditures Incumred, in accordance with the applicable
Governmants Regulations. Total net asssts of the project as of December 31, 2016 amounted to
SAR 2,625,000,000 (December 31, 20156: SAR 1,462,500,000),

€8
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